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APPENDIX 4E 
Financial year ended 30 June 2020 

  

Results for Announcement to the Market $’000 Up/Down Movement 

Revenue from ordinary activities 656,753 Up 11% 

Profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to members 74,054 Down 30% 

Net profit for the period attributable to members 74,054 Down 30% 

 

 
Dividend information 

 
Amount per 

share  
Franked amount 

per share 

Interim dividend per share (cents per share)  5.0 5.0 

Final dividend per share (cents per share)  14.0 14.0 

Total dividends per share for the year  19.0 19.0 

Final dividend dates    

Record date for determining entitlements to the final dividend 15 September 2020  

Payment date for the final dividend 29 September 2020  

 

Net tangible assets  2020 2019 

Net tangible assets per ordinary security  $4.14 $3.78 

Additional Appendix 4E disclosure requirements can be found in the Director’s Report and the 30 June 2020 
Financial Report. 

This information should be read in conjunction with Sandfire’s audited consolidated Financial Report, which is 
enclosed. 

All comparisons reported above are to the year ended 30 June 2019. 

 

For further information contact: 

Matthew Fitzgerald 

Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary 
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Forward-Looking Statements 

Certain statements made within this report contain or comprise forward-looking statements regarding the Group’s Mineral Resources 
and Reserves, exploration operations, project development operations, production rates, life of mine, projected cash flow, capital 
expenditure, operating costs and other economic performance and financial condition as well as general market outlook. Although 
Sandfire believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, such expectations are only 
predictions and are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties which could cause actual values, results, performance or achievements 
to differ materially from those expressed, implied or projected in any forward looking statements and no assurance can be given that 
such expectations will prove to have been correct. 

In particular, there is continuing uncertainty as to the full impact of COVID-19 on Sandfire’s business, the Australian economy, share 
markets and the economies in which Sandfire conducts business. Given the high degree of uncertainty surrounding the extent and 
duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is not currently possible to assess the full impact of COVID-19 on Sandfire’s business or the 
price of Sandfire securities. Actual values, results or events may therefore be materially different to those expressed or implied in this 
report. 

Accordingly, results could differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements as a result of, among other factors, 
changes in economic and market conditions, delays or changes in project development, success of business and operating initiatives, 
changes in the regulatory environment and other government actions, fluctuations in metals prices and exchange rates and business 
and operational risk management. Except for statutory liability which cannot be excluded, each of Sandfire, its officers, employees and 
advisors expressly disclaim any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the material contained in this statement and 
excludes all liability whatsoever (including in negligence) for any loss or damage which may be suffered by any person as a 
consequence of any information in this statement or any error or omission. Sandfire undertakes no obligation to update publicly or 
release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after today's date or to reflect the 
occurrence of unanticipated events other than required by the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules. Accordingly you should not 
place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. 
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to as the Group) consisting of the Parent entity, 
Sandfire Resources Limited (Sandfire or the Company), and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year 
ended 30 June 2020 (the reporting period) and the auditor’s report thereon. 

Directors 

The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are 
set out below. 

Name Period of Directorship 

Mr Derek La Ferla 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman 

Appointed 17 May 2010 

Mr Karl Simich 

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 

Appointed Director 27 September 2007 

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer since 1 July 2009 

 

 

 

 

Mr Robert Scott  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 30 July 2010 

Mr Paul Hallam  

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 21 May 2013 

Dr Roric Smith 

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 31 December 2016 

Ms Sally Langer 

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 1 July 2020 

Ms Maree Arnason 

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 18 December 2015 

Resigned 30 June 2020 

 
The qualifications, experience, other directorships and special responsibilities of the Directors in office for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this report are detailed below. 

Derek La Ferla, age 61 Independent Non-Executive Chairman 

Qualifications B.Arts, B.Juris, B.Law, Fellow of AICD 

Experience Mr La Ferla is a corporate lawyer and company director with more than 30 years’ 
experience. He has held senior leadership positions with some of Australia’s leading 
law firms and a variety of board positions with listed public companies and not for profit 
organisations. Mr La Ferla is currently a Partner in the Corporate Advisory Group (on 
a part time basis) with Western Australian firm, Lavan and was formerly the national 
leader of the corporate advisory and infrastructure, mining and commodities industry 
group at Norton Rose Fulbright. 

Derek has worked on some of the WA’s more notable capital market and private equity 
transactions including the Initial Public Offering (IPO) and ASX listing of Automotive 
Holdings Group, Navitas Ltd and Southern Cross Electrical Ltd among others. He 
brings a strong corporate governance perspective, balancing commercial and legal risk 
management needs. 

Mr La Ferla is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a member 
of the AICD National Board and the WA Council Division. 

Other current listed company directorships Non-Executive Chairman of Poseidon Nickel Limited (since December 2019). 

Non-Executive Chairman of Threat Protect Australia Limited (since September 2015). 

Former listed company directorships in last 
three years 

Non-Executive Chairman of Veris Limited (October 2011 to November 2019). 

Non-Executive Director of BNK Banking Corporation Limited (November 2015 to 
August 2019). 

Special responsibilities Member of the People and Performance Committee. 

Member of the Audit Committee. 

Karl Simich, age 56 Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Qualifications B.Com, FCA, F.Fin 

Experience Mr Simich is an experienced international mining executive who has been involved in 
the financing, construction, development and operation of various mining projects in 
New Zealand, Australia and Africa.  Specialising in resource finance and corporate 
management, Mr Simich has been a director of and held senior positions with a 
number of ASX-listed mining companies.  Mr Simich is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants and a Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia 
and has completed post-graduate studies in business and finance. 
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Directors (continued) 

Robert Scott, age 73 Independent Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications FCA 

Experience Mr Scott is a Chartered Accountant and former international partner with major global 
accounting firms with over 35 years’ experience. He was a former senior partner of 
KPMG and Arthur Anderson focusing on corporate structuring and taxation planning. 
He has served as a Chairman and as Non-Executive Director with various publicly 
listed resource companies with operational experience in Australia, USA and Asia and 
has a strong focus on project governance, audit and risk management. 

Mr Scott holds a Fellowship of the Australian Institute of Chartered Accountants and 
the Taxation Institute of Australia and is a member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.  

Other current listed company directorships Non-Executive Director of RTG Mining Inc (since March 2013). 

Non-Executive Chairman of Castillo Copper Ltd (since December 2018). 

Non-Executive Chairman of Twenty Seven Co Ltd (since April 2019). 

Former listed company directorships in last 
three years 

Non-Executive Director of Resimac Group Ltd (previously Homeloans Ltd) (November 
2000 to November 2018). 

Special responsibilities Chair of the Audit Committee. 

Member of the Risk Committee. 

Paul Hallam, age 65 Independent Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications BE (Hons) Mining, FAICD, FAusIMM 

Experience Mr Hallam has more than 40 years Australian and international resource industry 
experience. His operating and corporate experience is across a range of commodities 
(iron ore, bauxite, alumina, aluminium, gold, silver, copper, zinc and lead) and includes 
both surface and underground mining. 

He has global experience stemming from his executive roles across multiple cultural, 
regulatory and business environments. His former executive roles include Director – 
Operations with Fortescue Metals Group, Executive General Manager – Development 
& Projects with Newcrest Mining Ltd, Director – Victorian Operations with Alcoa and 
Executive General Manager - Base and Precious Metals with North Ltd; and also, mine 
management/development roles for Battle Mountain Gold Company in Chile, Bolivia 
and Australia. In these and previous roles Mr Hallam has held site and corporate 
accountability for all site functions plus sales and marketing, stakeholder 
management, capital projects and regulatory oversite and management for multiple 
mining operations. 

Mr Hallam retired in 2011 to pursue a career as a professional Non-Executive Director. 
He has held Australian and international Non-Executive Director roles since 1997. 

Mr Hallam is a qualified mining engineer and holds a BE (Hons) from Melbourne 
University and a Certificate of Mineral Economics from Curtin University. He is a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and the Australasian Institute 
of Mining & Metallurgy. 

Former listed company directorships in last 
three years 

Non-Executive Director of Gindalbie Metals Ltd (December 2011 to July 2019). 

Non-Executive Director of Altona Mining Ltd (March 2013 to April 2018). 

Special responsibilities Chair of the People and Performance Committee. 

Member of the Risk Committee. 

Sally Langer, age 46 Independent Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications B.Com, CA 

Experience Ms Langer has 25 years’ experience in Professional Services including as founder and 
Managing Partner of the management consulting and executive recruitment firm 
Derwent Executive, where she set up and led the growth of the Perth office servicing 
a wide range of clients both local and national and led the Mining and Industrial 
Practice. Prior to that, she was a Director at international recruitment firm Michael 
Page and a Chartered Accountant at accounting and consulting firm Arthur Andersen. 

During her career, Ms Langer has been responsible for strategy development and 
execution with a strong focus on profitable business growth, supervising and 
coordinating large teams and other management functions including strategy, 
business development, budgeting and human resources. She has been a trusted 
advisor to numerous Boards on recruitment, talent management, culture and 
organisational structure. 

Ms Langer is also Non-Executive Director of Saracen Mineral Holdings Limited.  She 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce from UWA and is currently undertaking an AICD 
course. 

Other current listed company directorships Non-Executive Director of Saracen Minerals Ltd (since May 2020). 

Special responsibilities Member of the People and Performance Committee. 
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Directors (continued) 

Roric Smith, age 58 Independent Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications B.Sc, B.Sc (Hons) Geology, Ph.D Geology, MAICD 

Experience Dr Smith is a highly experienced geologist with extensive Australian and international 
experience. Dr Smith was previously Vice President, Discovery and Chief Geologist 
for Evolution, where he played a key role in leading that company’s exploration efforts. 

Prior to joining Evolution, Dr Smith held senior executive positions with the gold 
producer AngloGold Ashanti, including as Senior Vice President, Global Greenfield 
Exploration; Country Manager and Chief Representative China; Exploration Manager 
– North Asia Region; and Chief Geologist Australia. Dr Smith holds a B.Sc, B.Sc 
(Hons) Geology and Ph.D from the University of Natal in South Africa. 

Other current listed company directorships Non-Executive Director of Saracen Mineral Holdings Ltd (since July 2017). 

Special responsibilities Chair of the Risk Committee. 

Member of the Audit Committee. 

Former director  

Maree Arnason, age 55 Resigned as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 30 June 2020 

Qualifications B.Arts, GAICD 

Former listed company directorships in last 
three years 

Non-Executive Director of MZI Resources Limited (May 2015 to March 2019). 

Special responsibilities Chair of the Sustainability Committee. 

Member of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Interests in the shares of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares of Sandfire Resources Limited were: 

 
Number of 

ordinary shares 

Derek La Ferla 21,668 

Karl Simich 4,900,051 

Robert Scott 5,000 

Paul Hallam 10,000 

Sally Langer - 

Roric Smith - 

There were no options over unissued ordinary shares in the Company granted to Directors during the year. 

Company Secretary 

Matthew Fitzgerald Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer 

Qualifications B.Com, CA 

Experience Mr Fitzgerald was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 22 February 2010. Mr 
Fitzgerald is a Chartered Accountant with extensive experience in the resources industry.  He began 
his career in the Assurance and Advisory division of KPMG, before joining ASX-listed Kimberley 
Diamond Company NL in 2003, where he held the position of Chief Financial Officer and Director 
until July 2008.  Mr Fitzgerald also holds the position of Non-Executive Chairman of the Company’s 
subsidiary Sandfire Resources America Inc.  

Committee structure and membership 

Members acting on the committees of the Board during the year are set out below.  Directors were a member of the 
committee for the entire period unless otherwise noted. 

Audit and Risk Remuneration and Nomination Sustainability 

Robert Scott - Chair Paul Hallam - Chair Maree Arnason 1 – Chair 

Derek La Ferla Derek La Ferla Derek La Ferla 

Paul Hallam Robert Scott Roric Smith 

Maree Arnason 1   

1 Ms Arnason resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director on 30 June 2020. 
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Directors (continued) 

Subsequent to year end and in line with the Company’s strategic review, the Board resolved to establish the following 
Committees, with effect from 1 July 2020. 

Audit Risk People and Performance 

Robert Scott - Chair Roric Smith - Chair Paul Hallam - Chair 

Derek La Ferla Robert Scott Derek La Ferla 

Roric Smith Paul Hallam Sally Langer 

Directors’ meetings 

The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of Committees of Directors) held during the year and the 
number of meetings attended by each Director are detailed below: 

  Meetings of Committees 

 
Board 

Meetings 
Audit and 

Risk 
Remuneration and 

Nomination 
 

Sustainability 

 A B A B A B A B 

Derek La Ferla 9 9 3 3 2 2 4 4 

Karl Simich 9 9 - - - - - - 

Robert Scott 9 9 3 3 2 2 - - 

Paul Hallam 9 9 3 3 2 2 - - 

Maree Arnason1 9 9 3 3 - - 4 4 

Roric Smith 9 9 - - - - 4 4 

A Number of meetings attended. 

B Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the relevant committee during the year.   
1 Ms Arnason resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director on 30 June 2020. 

The structure and membership of the Company’s Board Committees were changed subsequent to year end. Refer to Committee 
structure and membership of the Directors’ Report for details. 

Dividends 

Since the end of the financial year, the Board of Directors has resolved to pay a fully franked dividend of 14 cents per 
share, to be paid on 29 September 2020.  The record date for entitlement to this dividend is 15 September 2020.  The 
financial impact of this dividend amounting to $24,955,000 based on ordinary shares outstanding as at 30 June 2020 
has not been recognised in the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 and will be recognised in 
subsequent Financial Statements. 

The details in relation to dividends announced or paid since 1 July 2018, other than as above, are set out below: 

 
Record date 

 
Date of payment 

 
Period 

Amount per 
share (cents) 

Franked amount 
per share (cents) 

Total dividends 
$000 

26 February 2020 11 March 2020 2020 FY Interim 5 5 8,901 

15 November 2019 29 November 2019 2019 FY Final 16 16 28,485 

5 March 2019 19 March 2019 2019 FY Interim 7 7 11,169 

11 September 2018 25 September 2018 2018 FY Final 19 19 30,316 

Principal activities 

The principal activities during the year of the consolidated Group were: 

• Production and sale of copper concentrate, containing gold and silver by-products from the Group’s 100% owned 
DeGrussa Operations in Western Australia; 

• Evaluation of the T3 Copper-Silver Project in Botswana, and Sandfire Resources America Inc.’s high-grade Black 
Butte Copper Project in Montana, United States; and 

• Exploration, evaluation and development of mineral tenements and projects in Australia and overseas, including 
investment in early stage mineral exploration companies. 
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Operational and financial review 

COVID-19 BUSINESS RESPONSE 

In response to COVID-19 the Group initiated and maintained strict hygiene protocols across our operations and 
workplaces to minimise the potential transmission of COVID-19 and to ensure the well-being of our people and 
contractors. While the global COVID-19 pandemic required the Group to adjust some of its usual operating procedures 
during the year, the direct impact to the Degrussa operations was limited to social distancing and additional risk 
mitigation strategies enabling the Group to maintain a strong production performance.  

SAFETY PERFORMANCE  

The Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) for the Group at the end of the 30 June 2020 was 5.8 compared 
with 6.2 in 2019. 
 

DEGRUSSA OPERATIONS, WESTERN 
AUSTRALIA  

The DeGrussa Operations are located 
within the Group’s Greater Doolgunna 
Project in Western Australia’s Bryah Basin 
mineral province, approximately 900km 
north-east of Perth. 

The Operations are located within an 
established mining district, approximately 
150km north of the regional mining hub of 
Meekatharra, and includes both the 
DeGrussa and Monty Copper-Gold Mines. 

 
Location of the DeGrussa Operations.  

Overview 

Production for the 12 months to 30 June 2020 was 72,238 tonnes of contained copper and 42,263 ounces of contained 
gold. A summary of copper and gold production and sales for the year is provided below:  

 
FY 2020 Production Statistics 

 

Tonnes 

Grade 
(% Cu) 

Grade 
(g/t Au) 

Contained 
Copper (t) 

Contained 
Gold (oz) 

Concentrator Mined 1,669,533 4.8 1.8  79,222 94,080 

  Milled 1,600,122 

 

4.9 1.8 77,721 92,065 

  Production 303,607 

 

23.9 4.3 72,238 42,263 

 Concentrate sales 305,887 23.8 4.4 72,734 43,149 

Note: Mining and production statistics are rounded to the nearest 0.1% Cu grade and 0.1 g/t Au grade. Errors may occur due to 
rounding.  

Underground Mining  

Production was sourced from all lenses at DeGrussa and Monty throughout the reporting period. The ramp-up of the 
Monty mine was completed during the year along with grade control drilling, defining the geometry of the deposit and 
underpinning an updated Ore Reserve estimate. 

Processing  

Mill throughput for the 2020 financial year was as planned at around 1.6Mtpa, with copper recoveries in line with 
forecasts at 92.9% and gold recoveries at 45.9%. Mill throughput rates and recoveries were impacted slightly during the 
reporting period by the introduction of transitional ore from the DeGrussa crown pillar, which was successfully addressed 
by close management of blending strategies.  

Sales & Marketing  

A total of 305,887 tonnes of concentrate was sold for the year containing 72,734 tonnes of copper and 43,149 ounces 
of gold. Twenty-nine shipments were completed from both Port Hedland and Geraldton during the year. 
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

EXPLORATION PROJECTS – GREATER DOOLGUNNA PROJECT 

The Greater Doolgunna Project, which includes 100% Sandfire tenure, Joint arrangements and Farm-in projects, covers 
an aggregate contiguous exploration area of 7,137km2. This includes over 90km of strike extent in host VMS lithologies. 
Much of this stratigraphy is obscured beneath transported cover and requires systematic drilling to test the bedrock 
geochemistry and identify prospective areas. 

Key components of the Company’s exploration activity within the Greater Doolgunna Project during the financial year 
included: 
• Doolgunna Project – initial resource definition at the Old Highway gold prospect around areas of known gold 

mineralisation and Reverse Circulation (RC) drilling to follow-up anomalous geochemistry and newly identified 

sediment horizons through the Red Bore/Homer trend. 

• Enterprise Project – RC drilling to test a large magnetic anomaly in the Ruby Well area and in-fill sections of 

prospective stratigraphy along strike from Vulcan West, RC drilling to test geochemical anomalism in the Mount 

Leake prospect area, and the definition of moving loop electromagnetic (MLEM) conductors for drilling.  

• Cheroona Project – first-pass Air-Core (AC) drilling through the Orient prospect areas to test the prospective 

Karalundi stratigraphy, RC drilling to test multi-element geochemistry within the historical shallow RC drilling in the 

Karalundi stratigraphy and RC drilling to test geophysical anomalies identified by previous drilling near the Orient 

gossan. 

• Morck Well Project – AC drilling to delineate stratigraphy and provide litho-geochemical data, RC drilling to test 

MLEM anomalies and follow up surface anomalism at the Tetris prospect, RC drilling to test AEM and MLEM 

anomalies, and diamond and RC drilling to test prospective stratigraphy west and south-west of the Frenchy’s 

Prospect and along strike from other geochemical and geophysical anomalies.  

• Springfield Project – diamond and RC drilling to test mineralisation and anomalous zones identified in MLEM 

surveys and previous drilling, and RC drilling to test down-dip of anomalous copper intercepts in the Southern 

Volcanics.  

• Peak Hill Project – RC drilling to test multi-element geochemical anomalism returned from first-pass AC drilling 

through the Peak Hill trend, AC drilling through the West Range, Central Range and Quartz Bore prospect areas 

to test interpreted Karalundi and Narracoota Formation stratigraphy, and RC drilling to test geochemical and 

geophysical anomalies in the West Range and Central Range prospect areas.  

• Bryah Project – AC drilling to test potential Karalundi Formation sediments and interpreted Narracoota Formation 

geology within the Bryan South prospect.  

Further details of these exploration programs is provided in the Company’s Quarterly Activities Reports, which are 
available at www.sandfire.com.au. 

 

  

http://www.sandfire.com.au/
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

TSHUKUDU PROJECT, BOTSWANA  

Sandfire completed the acquisition of 100% of MOD Resources Ltd (ASX/LSE: MOD) on 23 October 2019, providing 
the Company with large land holding in the highly prospective Kalahari Copper Belt in Botswana, including the advanced 
T3 Copper-Silver Project. 

Feasibility Study Optimisation 

MOD Resources Ltd (MOD) completed a Feasibility Study for the T3 Project in March 2019. Sandfire has commenced 
a detailed review and optimisation of the T3 Feasibility Study during the reporting period. 

Key areas progressed included a revision of the process plant design to enable rapid future expansion of the processing 
rate, completion of plant and infrastructure site layout designs and commencement of the tender process for the open 
pit mining contract.  

Timing for the completion of the updated Feasibility Study and Ore Reserve will be advised following the completion of 
a COVID-19 impact assessment. 

A decision to mine and any subsequent commencement of development activities at T3 have also been delayed, 
pending completion of the COVID-19 impact assessment. 

Project Permitting 

The Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) for the T3 Copper-Silver Project was approved by the 
Botswana Department of Environmental Affairs during the reporting period and the Company is progressing with its 
Mining Licence Application. 

Kalahari Copper Belt Exploration 

The Kalahari Copper Belt Project comprises approximately 18,200km2 of highly prospective licences surrounding the 
Group’s T3 Copper-Silver Project in Botswana and extending west into Namibia. The Group’s licences represent a rare 
belt-scale exploration opportunity globally, comprising an extensive and strategic position along the 300km centre of a 
major emerging sediment-hosted copper belt. Prior to MOD and Sandfire’s involvement, there has been minimal drilling 
and no modern or systematic exploration such as Airborne Electromagnetics (AEM) or extensive soil sampling programs 
on the licences.  

After completing the acquisition of MOD in late October 2019 and successfully integrating MOD’s assets and key team 
members, Sandfire embarked on a significant expanded exploration program starting at the A4 Dome. 

The Company has enjoyed considerable early success with the emerging A4 Dome discovery, located 8km west of T3, 
where it has announced significant wide intercepts of shallow, high-grade vein-hosted copper-silver mineralisation.  As 
a result, A4 has progressed rapidly to a resource drill-out.  

Several exploration results were reported for the A4 area during the year, with many holes delivering significant high-
grade intersections of copper-silver mineralisation. Hole MO-A4-035D delivered the best intersection reported from the 
project to date, returning 18m at 5.2% Cu and 124g/t Ag from 77m down-hole (uncut) or 18m at 3.9% Cu and 124g/t Ag 
from 77m down-hole (top-cut to 15% Cu).  

The results demonstrate the continuity of high-grade vein-hosted mineralisation along strike within the A4 resource area 
and increase the known strike length of the mineralisation to over 700m with the deposit remaining open both to the 
north-east and south-west.  

Drilling was suspended in late March due to the lockdown imposed by the Botswana Government in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, before resuming in early June 2020. 

Acquisition of Namibian exploration tenements 

During the year Sandfire completed the acquisition of 100% of Trans Kalahari Copper Namibia (Pty) Ltd, which holds a 
block of nine licences in Namibia covering a total area of approximately 6,700km2. 

The Namibian licences continue directly along strike from the Company’s Tshukudu licences in Botswana and cover a 
large, under-explored area within the western part of the Kalahari Copper Belt. Interpretation of airborne magnetic data 
suggests the favourable geological structures being explored in Botswana continue for approximately 100km into 
Namibia. Previous, very widely-spaced drilling has intersected copper-silver mineralisation along the same contact 
which hosts the majority of known copper resources in Botswana. 

A Namibian-based exploration manager has been appointed and evaluation of existing data was underway at the end 
of the reporting period. 
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

BLACK BUTTE COPPER PROJECT, MONTANA, USA 

Sandfire holds an 85% interest, via North American-listed company Sandfire Resources America Inc. (TSX-V: SFR), in 
the premier, high-grade Black Butte Copper Project, located in central Montana in the United States. This high-quality 
project, which is one of the world’s highest-grade undeveloped copper projects, has completed the final stage of 
permitting. The planned mine development will utilise best-practice technology and modern mining techniques to 
develop a wholly-underground mine with minimal surface footprint and minimising environmental impact.  

Mineral Resource Update 

During the reporting period, Sandfire Resources America Inc. (Sandfire America) announced an updated NI 43-101 
Mineral Resource estimate for the Johnny Lee Deposit, the cornerstone deposit of the Black Butte Copper Project in 
Montana, USA. The updated Resource comprises: 

 Measured and Indicated Mineral Resource of 10.9Mt at an average copper grade of 2.9% Cu for 311,000t of 

contained copper (at a 1.0% Cu cut-off grade); and 

 Inferred Mineral Resource of 2.7Mt at an average copper grade of 3.0% Cu for 80,000t of contained copper 

(at a 1.0% Cu cut-off grade). 

Full details of the Mineral Resource estimate are provided in Sandfire’s ASX Announcement dated 30 October 2019. 
Mineral Resources for the Lowry Deposit remain unchanged and current as of the effective date listed in the Preliminary 
Economic Assessment completed by Sandfire America in July 2013. 

Permitting Progress 

Project permitting for the Black Butte Copper Project was completed during the reporting period, with the Montana 
Department of Environmental Quality (MT DEQ) releasing the Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) on 13 March 
2020 and issuing a positive Record of Decision (ROD) to grant a Mine Operating Permit (MOP) on 9 April 2020. 

The Department of Natural Resources & Conservation (MT DNRC) also issued a Preliminary Determination (PD) in 
response to the water right owners’ application to modify their irrigation water rights to include leasing water for mitigation 
for the Black Butte Copper Project. The proposed water right modification maintains water balance in the Sheep Creek 
drainage area. The PD will also address Sandfire America’s request for a groundwater permit and a high flow water 
right to capture spring run-off and store in a reservoir, which will provide water to replenish stream flows year-round. 
The issuance of the PD triggers a comment period for other water rights holders prior to a Final Determination. 

On 19 May 2020, the MT DEQ issued a Phase 1 bonding number establishing a bond of US$4.65 million for the Black 
Butte Copper Project. The initial bond increment covers only Phase 1 surface construction of the mine site. A second 
bond increment must be calculated by the DEQ to cover Phase 2 development which includes further underground 
development, mill construction, and any activities involving beneficial water use. 

Legal Challenge 

A legal challenge to the MT DEQ’s Record of Decision was lodged on 4 June 2020 in the 14th Judicial Court in Meagher 
County, Montana against the MT DEQ and the Group’s subsidiary, Tintina Montana Inc., by a number of groups who 
oppose resource development in Montana. Sandfire America will review the challenge and will seek to work with the 
MT DEQ to defend this litigation vigorously. 

Sandfire is committed to advancing the Black Butte Project through to Feasibility Study, to be followed by a decision to 
mine and financing considerations. This work will be progressed in parallel with preliminary earthworks and bonding 
activities. 

Feasibility Study 

All the technical studies have now been completed for the Black Butte Project Feasibility Study, which commenced in 
October 2018. The timing for completion of the Feasibility Study may be delayed due to the global health crisis caused 
by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Financing 

Sandfire provided a US$2 million unsecured loan to Sandfire America to cover anticipated expenditures through the 
ROD and completion of the FS. This is in addition to the US$3 million previously advanced. Once the Feasibility Study 
is completed, the Board of Sandfire America will consider its mid-term and long-term financing requirements in line with 
the outcome of the Feasibility Study and decision to mine. For further details refer to the market releases of Sandfire 
America available on the company’s website www.sandfireamerica.com. 
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

AUSTRALIAN EXPLORATION 
 
Sandfire has a number of exploration interests and 
joint ventures around Australia exploring for base and 
precious metals. The exploration programs are 
focused on prospective terranes with the potential for 
discovery of a significant new deposit that can be 
developed. 

Further details of these projects can be found on 
Company’s website www.sandfire.com.au and the 
Company’s June 2020 Quarterly Report ASX 
announcement, dated 30 July 2020. 

 

 

 
Location map of Sandfire’s Australian Exploration Projects. 

 

New South Wales Projects 

A number of 100%-owned project areas are held in the Lachlan Fold Belt of New South Wales which are prospective 
for porphyry copper-gold mineralisation as found at Northparkes (China Moly), Cadia (Newcrest) and Cowal (Evolution). 
New 100%-owned tenements have been granted in the Cobar Basin and a farm-in agreement continues on the 
Coomeratta project with Sandfire having the right to earn an 80% interest. 

Temora  

Drilling conducted during the year tested a number of porphyry copper-gold prospects in the Temora Belt.  

At the Monza project, drilling intersected a breccia pipe with strong visible chalcopyrite and molybdenum close to a 
historical high grade intercept. Follow up drilling showed strong indications of porphyry mineralisation along strike, giving 
potential for a larger system. DHEM surveys did not return significant anomalies. 

At the Fields prospect initial AC drilling identified strong epithermal gold related geochemical anomalism. Follow-up 
diamond and in-fill AC drilling confirmed the extent and tenor of the mineralisation. 

These results are now being evaluated with encouragement for a significant geophysical and drilling program for later 
in CY2020 when access is available after local crops are harvested. The gold anomaly currently extends over 400m of 
strike and requires additional ground electrical geophysics and an air-core program to define its extent.  

Coomeratta 

Diamond and RC drilling at the Coomeratta farm-in project in the western Cobar district intersected a large alteration 
system with over 100m of hydrothermal hematite and barite alteration associated with minor chalcopyrite, tennantite 
and stibnite mineralisation.  

Wingrunner 

A Heads of Agreement has been signed with Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (ASX: FMG) over the Wingrunner Project in 
the central Lachlan Fold belt in New South Wales. Under the terms of the agreement FMG have the option to earn 80% 
of the project by expenditure of $7 million over 8 years and a minimum commitment of $0.5 million.  

Northern Territory – Borroloola Project 

The Borroloola Project is located north of the McArthur River Mine (Xstrata), and is prospective for base metals and 
sedimentary manganese. Sandfire has signed farm-out agreements to advance the Borroloola Project. The Borroloola 
West JV covering the western portion is under an agreement with Pacifico Minerals Ltd, which has now earned a 51% 
interest in the Project and Sandfire is a contributing 49% JV partner. The new North Batten Property Option and Joint 
Venture agreement allows Teck Australia Pty Ltd (Teck) to earn a 75% interest in the project. 

An Option and Joint Venture agreement was entered with Teck Australia over the North Batten Property during the 
reporting period. Teck are part of a major Canadian based mining company with considerable base metals exploration 
experience in the region. Under the terms of the agreement, Teck has the right to earn up to a 75% interest in the project 
by spending a cumulative $27 million on exploration over ten years. A minimum expenditure of $1 million is required by 
August 2021 and a 51% interest in the property will be earnt by expending $7 million by August 2025. 

Teck has commenced planning and review work over the North Batten Property as part of the Joint Venture.  

 

http://www.sandfire.com.au/
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

Queensland Projects 

A number of projects are held in the eastern succession of the Mount Isa region south and east of Cloncurry in northwest 
Queensland which are prospective for Broken Hill-type (BHT) lead-zinc-silver deposits such as the Cannington deposit 
(South 32) and the Ernest Henry iron oxide-copper-gold (IOCG) deposits (Xstrata). A Joint Venture, 60% interest is held 
over the Altia project with Minotaur Exploration Ltd (ASX: MEP). 

During the year, Sandfire established a joint venture heads of agreement with the Cloncurry Alliance – an alliance 
between Minotaur Exploration Ltd (ASX: MEP) and OZ Minerals Ltd (ASX: OZL) – over Sandfire’s tenement group near 
Cloncurry, Queensland. The new Breena Plains JV with the Cloncurry Alliance incorporates some 1,226km2 of tenure. 

The Breena Plains JV requires the Cloncurry Alliance to invest $1 million in exploration in the first year. Thereafter, the 
Cloncurry Alliance may earn an initial 51% tenement interest by sole funding a further $3 million through the next 2 year 
period. The Cloncurry Alliance may then earn an additional 24% interest for the further expenditure of $4 million over 
the subsequent 2 years to reach a total 75% interest.  

The Cloncurry Alliance’s work programs were delayed due to its inability to access the tenement areas as a result of 
restrictions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

CORPORATE ACTIVITIES REVIEW 

Acquisition of MOD Resources Limited 

During the year Sandfire completed the acquisition MOD Resources Limited (MOD) by way of a scheme of arrangement. 
Under the arrangement to acquire 100% of the issued, and to be issued share capital of MOD each shareholder elected 
to receive either: 

 0.0664 Sandfire shares for each MOD share; or 

 Cash of A$0.45 per share up to a maximum of A$41.6 million. 

MOD and Sandfire also entered into Options Cancellation Deeds with each of the MOD option holders, under which 
MOD option holders agreed to the cancellation of their MOD options for a total cash consideration of $1.0 million to be 
paid by Sandfire on the effective date of the Scheme. Sandfire also incurred transaction costs of $3.2 million in relation 
to the acquisition of MOD. 

As a result of successful implementation of the arrangement Sandfire issued 18,440,174 shares and cash consideration 
of $41.6 million. Total consideration including equity issued, option cancellation and transaction costs was $165.1 
million, net cash paid including transaction costs was $44.6 million. 

For further information in relation to the acquisition of MOD Resources Limited, see Note 24. 
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

 

Year ended 30 June 2020 

DeGrussa 

Operation 

$000 

Black Butte 

Project 

$000 

Tshukudu 

Project 

$000 

Exploration 

and Other 

$'000 

Group 

$000 

Revenue 656,753 - - - 656,753 

EBITDA^ 414,382  (15,652) (5,252) (78,222) 315,256 

Profit before net finance and income tax 216,517 (15,920) (5,302) (81,474) 113,821 

Profit before income tax     111,143 

Net profit for the year     72,286 

Net profit attributable to the equity holders of the 
parent 

  
  

74,054 

Basic and diluted earnings per share     42.88 

^ EBITDA is a non IFRS measure. This measure is presented to enable a better understanding of the operations of the Group and is reconciled to statutory 

net profit in Note 3 of the financial statements. 

The DeGrussa operation contributed profit before net finance and income tax of $216.5 million (2019: $225.7 million) 
from underground mining and concentrator operations.  

Black Butte project represents the Group’s 85% interest in Sandfire Resources America Inc. (TSX-V: SFR) which 
contributed a loss before net finance and income tax of $15.9 million (2019: $14.8 million) from evaluation work on the 
Black Butte Copper project in USA. 

Tshukudu project represents the Group’s activities within the Kalahari Copper Belt, following its acquisition of MOD 
Resources Limited during the year, which includes the T3 Copper-Silver project and several resource expansion 
prospects. Tshukudu contributed a loss before net finance and income tax of $5.3 million to the Group for the year.  

Exploration and other segment resulted in a loss before net finance and income tax of $81.5 million (2019: loss of $57.7 
million), which includes a non-cash impairment charge of $23.6 million for the current year. 

Dividends of $37.4 million were declared during the year, comprising $28.5 million in respect of the 2019 financial year.  
Subsequent to year end the Directors of the Company announced a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 
2020 financial year of 14 cents per share fully franked. Combined with the interim dividend of 5 cents per share 
represents 44% of the earnings per share for the full year. The final dividend has not been provided for in the 
consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Revenue 

 
Revenue 

30 Jun 2020 
$000 

30 Jun 2019 
$000 

Value of metal payable sold ^ 684,867 642,194 

Treatment and refining charges (39,407) (41,563) 

Revenue from contracts with customers 645,460 600,631 

Realised and unrealised QP price adjustment gain / (loss) 11,293 (8,420) 

Total Revenue 656,753 592,211 

^ Value of metal payable sold is a non IFRS measure. This measure is presented to enable a better understanding of the operations of the Group and is 

reconciled to total statutory revenue above. 

 
Revenue breakdown by commodity 

30 Jun 2020 
% 

Revenue from sales of copper  84.0 

Revenue from sales of gold  14.8 

Revenue from sales of silver  1.2 

 100.0 

Realised and unrealised priced adjustment gain for the year of $11.3 million were recorded as a result of a net increase 
in commodity prices during quotational sales periods (QP). 

From time to time the Group utilise derivatives to either fix the price of sales at the time of shipment or to reduce the 
length of the QP, therefore reducing the short and medium term exposure to the market price of metal for completed or 
imminent shipments. The arrangements are generally considered to be economic hedges, however are not designated 
into a hedging relationship for accounting purposes. There were no hedging activities undertaken during the year.  
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

DeGrussa Operations costs 

 
Degrussa Operations costs 

30 Jun 2020 
$000 

30 Jun 2019 
$000 

Mine operations costs 142,602 134,694 

Employee benefit expenses 30,054 26,303 

Freight expenses 45,397 46,693 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (8,641) (11,052) 

 209,412 196,638 

Royalties 

Government royalties are levied at 5.0% for copper sold as concentrate and 2.5% for gold, plus native title payments.  
As production value is heavily weighted towards copper production, the combined government royalty rate approximates 
the 5% level (net of allowable deductions). 

Exploration and evaluation 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 the Group’s Exploration and evaluation expenses across all segments was $49.6 
million (2019: $48.7 million).  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises expenditure on the Group’s projects, including: 

a) Near-mine and the Greater Doolgunna regional exploration, which include a number of joint venture earn-in 
arrangements;  

b) Exploration activities within the Kalahari Copper Belt, in Botswana and Namibia; 

c) Expenditure arising on the consolidation of the Group’s controlled entities from the Group’s investment in 
Sandfire Resources America Inc; and 

d) Other Australian and international exploration projects.  

Impairment 

The Group has recognised impairments and write-downs of $23.6 million for the year ended 30 June 2020, as a result 
from the write-down of the DeGrussa Oxide stockpile and impairment of regional exploration resources. 

Depreciation and amortisation 
 

 

Carrying value 
June 2020 

$000 

 

Carrying value 
June 2019 

$000 

Depreciation and 
amortisation 

during the year 

$000 

Mine properties 169,939 230,571 144,060 

Plant and equipment, including assets under construction 105,345 135,920 43,879 

Right of use assets  - AASB 16 Leases 12,834 - 13,496 

 288,118 366,491 201,435 

Income tax expense 

Income tax expense of $38.9 million for the year consists of current and deferred tax expense and is based on the 
taxable income of the Group entities, adjusted for temporary differences between tax and accounting treatments. Cash 
tax payments during the year amounted to $60.7 million.   
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Operational and financial review (continued) 

Financial Position 

Net assets of the Group have increased by $146.0 million to $750.2 million during the reporting period. 

Cash balance 

Group cash on hand was $291.1 million as at 30 June 2020 (the Company $290.1 million). 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables include remaining funds to be received from the sale of concentrate subject to provisional 
pricing and quotational periods at the time of sale. 

Inventories 

Current inventories have increased $8.6 million to $53.7 million due to an increase in ore and concentrate stockpiles. 

Non-current inventories relating the Degrussa Oxide stockpile have been written-off during the period resulting in an 
impairment expense of $11.7 million. See Note 17 to the financial statements for further information. 

Financial investments 

Financial investments represents the Group’s investments in various early stage mining and exploration companies. 
The fair value of the investments as at 30 June 2020 was $42.0 million. 

Mine properties 

The Company invested a total of $81.2 million in mine development activities during the year. Which included $40.2 
million related to the underground development of the Monty Copper-Gold Mine, a further $40.2 million for underground 
mine development related to the DeGrussa Copper-Gold Mine, to establish development access to sulphide ore bodies 
ahead of future stoping activities. 

Property, Plant and equipment, including assets under construction 

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment (PPE), including assets under construction, has decreased by 
$30.6 million to $105.3 million at the end of the year, including depreciation for the year of $43.9 million, offset by 
additions during the year. 

Right-of-use ROU assets 

The right-of-use (ROU) assets within PPE represents the right to assets obtained within lease contracts, recognised in 
the current year on initial application of AASB 16 Leases. The ROU asset cost represents the present value of the 
liability of the lease contract at inception, with the asset generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

Current and deferred tax liabilities 

Tax instalments during the year exceed the estimated taxable profit on operations for the year resulting in the Group 
booking a current income tax receivable of $16.3 million at year-end. In addition, the Group has booked a net deferred 
tax liability position of $28.1 million at balance date which predominantly relates to the differing tax depreciation and 
amortisation rates of mining assets and equipment compared to accounting rates. 

Provisions 

Total current and non-current provisions for the Group have increased by $11.0 million to $46.6 million as at 30 June 
2020. The Group’s provisions predominately relate to mine rehabilitation activities as well as some employee 
entitlements for long service and annual leave. 

Cash Flows 

Operating activities 

Net cash inflow from operating activities was $273.6 million for the year. Net cash inflow from operating activities prior 
to payments for exploration and evaluation activities was $331.0 million for the year. 

Investing activities 

Net cash outflow from investing activities was $178.8 million for the period. This included payments for property, plant 
and equipment of $8.5 million, payments for mine development of $98.0 million, payments for financial investments of 
$24.3 million, and net cash paid to acquire MOD Resources Limited of $44.6 million 

Financing activities 

Net cash outflow from financing activities of $51.2 million for the year included dividend payments of $37.4 million, and 
repayment of lease liabilities including interest under AASB 16 Leases of $14.7 million. 
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Business risks and management 

Supported by a detailed strategic and structural review during FY2020, the Company confirmed its key growth objective 
to transition from a single-mine company into an international, multi-asset base and precious metals producer. In pursuit 
of this objective, Sandfire is focused on the following five key elements of its strategic plan: 

1. Execute delivery – optimisation of the existing DeGrussa Operations, optimisation of the T3 Copper-Silver 

Project Feasibility Study and advancing the Black Butte Copper Project; 

2. Build a sustainable production profile – develop new operational centres and execute new business 

development opportunities, leveraging off Sandfire’s strong balance sheet and its strength in project 
evaluation and execution; 

3. Accelerate discovery – utilise our skills and resources to accelerate the discovery of further economic 

resources across our regions; 

4. Align and empower our people – development of a “fit-for-purpose” largely decentralised Group 

organisational structure with empowered, accountable and incentivised leaders and staff in appropriate 
positions; and 

5. Optimise capital structure – funding Sandfire’s global development plan and maintaining the strength of the 

Company’s balance sheet while maximising long-term value and returns to shareholders. 

Sandfire’s business elements are carried out with respect for our variety of stakeholders and recognising their diverse 
interests and needs. The safety of our people, care for the environment, our place in our communities and our ethical 
business dealings underpin our ability to execute our strategic plan and deliver value to our stakeholders. 

Sandfire’s business, operating and financial performance are subject to various risks and uncertainties, some of which 
are beyond Sandfire’s reasonable control. The identification and management of these risks is central to achieving our 
strategic objectives. 

Sandfire’s Risk Management Framework is applied across the Group and assists the Board and management to identify, 
assess, manage and monitor risks that may have a material impact on the Group and the achievement of its strategic 
initiatives. It protects us against potential negative impacts and enables us to take risk for strategic reward. 

Management is responsible for the day-to-day design and implementation of Sandfire’s risk management system. Risk 
management forms part of Sandfire’s line management and operational responsibilities and is integrated into the 
strategic and business planning processes. 

Business risks are assessed on a regular basis, including consideration of potential new and emerging risks. Material 
risks are documented and monitored with the implementation of preventative and mitigating processes and controls. 
Mitigating processes and controls are designed to minimise the adverse impact on Sandfire should a risk or uncertainty 
materialise. 

Material risks are regularly reported to the Board and its committees. The Risk Committee reviews and reports to the 
Board that Sandfire’s ongoing risk management program effectively identifies all areas of potential risk and assists the 
Board in monitoring risks. 

Further information on Sandfire’s approach to risk management is set out in the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Statement, which can be found on our website at https://www.sandfire.com.au/site/about/corporate-governance. 

Set out below are matters which the Company has assessed as having the potential to have a material impact on the 
business, operating and/or financial results, performance and fulfilment of the strategic aspirations of the Group. The 
matters identified are not listed in order of importance and are not intended as an exhaustive list of all the risks and 
uncertainties associated with Sandfire’s business. Additional risks and uncertainties, including those not presently 
known to management and the Board, may adversely affect Sandfire’s business. 

Information that could result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group has been excluded, including that which is 
confidential or commercially sensitive, except where disclosure is required pursuant to our continuous disclosure 
obligations. 

COVID-19 

The COVID-19 pandemic and its various management and operational challenges have tested Sandfire’s business, its 
people and culture.  The Group’s response to COVID-19 has ensured that there has been no immediate material impact 
on our people or the business. 

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve, there are emerging risks and uncertainty that could adversely impact 
our business. These risks include, but are not limited to, interruptions to supply chains, travel restrictions and boarder 
closures, adverse impacts to our people’s health and wellbeing, material delays to project timelines and reduced 
demand for our copper in concentrate. 

The Company’s COVID-19 Working Group, supported by our management systems and financial position, has and will 
continue to monitor the impact of the pandemic and has worked swiftly to introduce measures to monitor and navigate 
the effects of the pandemic. 

https://www.sandfire.com.au/site/About/corporate-governance
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Business risks and management (continued) 

The health and wellbeing of our people, contractors and stakeholders is of paramount importance to us, and the 
Company implemented protocols to minimise the potential transmission of the virus. Key measures implemented 
include: 

• Maintaining health and safety systems in line with formal guidance of State health authorities; 

• Boosting workforce social distancing measures across aviation, transit and workplaces; 

• Health screening introduced at airport for personnel travelling to site; 

• Modified flight schedules and reduced number of personnel on each flight; 

• Enhanced workforce communication and promotion of Sandfire’s health and wellbeing programs, including 
mental health; 

• Extended sick and compassionate leave assistance to employees, including casuals; 

• Consulting with and assisting our communities; 

• Working with our contractors to provide assistance; and 

• Maintaining critical payments to employees and contractors. 

The DeGrussa Operations, which continue to operate at full capacity, have been well protected through this professional 
approach, assisted by its natural isolation in central Western Australia. The Company has been able to maintain critical 
consumables and spares, while preserving our supply chains, sales routes and customer contracts. 

Financially, the Group has delivered continued profitability with mining, processing and concentrate sales in line with, 
or exceeding, market guidance for FY2020. The impact on operating costs has also been minimal. 

While the global COVID-19 pandemic has required the Company to adjust some of its usual operating procedures, the 
direct impact to date has been limited to social distancing and additional risk mitigation strategies. 

Optimisation of the Feasibility Study for the T3 Copper-Silver Project in Botswana is continuing, focused on mine design 
and planning, plant engineering, power supply, site infrastructure and operating costs. The decision to mine and any 
subsequent commencement of development activities at T3 has been delayed due to the likely impact of COVID-19 on 
tendering and construction activities, however the Company and Board remain focused on progressing the project.  

Health, Safety and Sustainability Risks 

Our people  

The health, safety and wellbeing of our employees and contractors remains our highest priority. There are numerous 
occupational health and safety risks associated with the Group’s exploration, development and mining activities 
including, but not limited to: handling explosives; underground operations subject to rockfall and water ingress; working 
in confined spaces; areas where heavy and light vehicles interact; manual handling; and operating at heights. Operating 
in a FIFO (Fly-In-Fly-Out) operation also introduces the risk that is inherent in air travel, as contractors and employees 
are required to regularly commute by aircraft as well as industry specific physical and mental health considerations. 

These risks may lead to serious injuries, regulatory investigations, restrictions and disruptions to operations and 
reputational damage. The Group applies its principal hazard management process to all activities to identify critical 
health and safety risks and manages these risks via the critical control verifications framework. As the Group’s 
exploration and mining activities expand, increased due diligence of health and safety risks will be managed through 
the Health and Safety Management System, and accompanying standards, procedures, and safe work instructions. 

We actively engage with all levels of staff, including contractors, and senior leadership so that our workforce is 
appropriately trained in the assessment of risks and hazards and procedures required to operate safely. Sandfire targets 
health and safety risks through active management and clear guidance and expectations of all personnel.  

Environmental  

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of its operations on the environment, with an appropriate focus placed 
on ongoing monitoring of environmental matters and compliance with environmental regulations. 

Mining and processing operations and development activities have inherent risks and liabilities associated with potential 
harm to the environment. Sandfire’s activities are therefore subject to extensive environmental law and regulation in the 
various jurisdictions in which it operates. Non-compliance with these laws may potentially result in fines or requests for 
improvement actions from the regulator and reputational damage. 

Sandfire’s operations may create a risk of exposure to hazardous materials. Sandfire uses hazardous material (for 
example, explosives at its DeGrussa Operations) and generates waste products that must be disposed of either through 
offsite facilities or onsite permitted landfills and waste management areas. Mining and ore refining processes also 
generate waste by-products such as tailings to be managed by the use of tailings storage facilities (TSF) and waste 
rock to be managed in waste rock facilities. Geochemical reactions within long-term waste rock or low grade material 
storage stockpiles can also lead to the generation of acid and metalliferous drainage that requires active mitigation, 
design, testing and management. 
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Business risks and management (continued) 

Appropriate management of waste is a key consideration in Sandfire’s operations. Unmanaged, mining operations can 
impact flows and water quality in surface and ground water bodies and remedial measures may be required to prevent 
or minimise such impacts. 

Sandfire manages one active TSF at the DeGrussa Operations. Commissioned in 2012, the downstream designed 
facility is located within an Integrated Waste Landform. Tailings are deposited into a circular impoundment with a 
composite liner comprising high density polyethylene and compacted clay. We are committed to responsible tailings 
management to minimise the risk of failures, maintain regional biodiversity values, protect groundwater, prevent 
uncontrolled releases and reduce long-term closure liabilities. 

Our TSF is governed in accordance with our Environmental Management System Standards and operated in line with 
regulatory approvals. The ongoing management controls include annual independent audits of the TSF conducted by 
specialist engineers and are undertaken in accordance with the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety 
and the Australian National Committee on Large Dams (ANCOLD) standards. The audits cover aspects of groundwater 
monitoring, geotechnical stability and tailings management practices. 

The Group is required to close its operations and rehabilitate the land affected by the DeGrussa Operations at the 
conclusion of mining and processing activities. Actual closure costs in the future may be higher than currently estimated. 
Current estimates of these costs are reflected in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets as provisions in the Financial Statements. Management seeks external assistance and review, where 
appropriate, to estimate these future costs. 

Sandfire complies with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (Cth), under which it is required to 
report energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions for its Australian facilities for the year ended 30 June 2020 
and future periods. Sandfire is committed to proactively managing energy use efficiency and reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions wherever practical and is guided by internal policy and guidelines. 

Maintenance of Stakeholder Engagement & Good Title 

Sandfire has expanded into global jurisdictions. The Group works closely with communities in the areas where it 
operates to build and maintain strong relationships and partnerships to drive value creation for both the business and 
host communities. 

Loss of stakeholder support could result in loss of social licence to operate, impact on current operations or delays in 
project approval or delivery. The Group has internal processes to manage and actively engage with its stakeholders to 
ensure that we deliver long-term benefits to our local communities and other stakeholders and identify and reduce the 
adverse impacts of our activities on local communities. 

The Group manages and relies on maintenance of good title over the approvals, permits and licenses which allow it to 
operate. Loss of good title or access due to challenges instituted by issuers of authorisations, permits or licenses, such 
as government authorities or land owners may result in disruptions to operating performance. In Australia, the Group 
actively engages with the Traditional Owners and local communities and has compensation agreements in place with 
Aboriginal peoples affected by its activities.  

Operational Risks 

Operational disruptions and natural hazards 

The DeGrussa Operations located in Western Australia is the Group’s sole operating project and profitable operating 
segment and exposes the Group to concentration risk. 

The Group’s operations are subject to uncertainty with respect to (without limitation): ore tonnes, mine grade, ground 
conditions, metallurgical recovery or unanticipated metallurgical issues (which may affect extraction costs), infill 
resource drilling, mill performance, failure of tailings facilities, transportation and logistics issues, the level of experience 
of the workforce, regulatory changes, safety related incidents and other unforeseen circumstances such as unplanned 
mechanical failure of plant or equipment, natural events such as storms, floods or bushfires. 

The Group mitigates these risks by employing appropriately qualified technical personnel and experienced managers 
that utilise formalised operating practices, processes and procedures. Continual monitoring of the underground 
environment is undertaken to identify change that may require action and the Group engages specialist consultants 
when technical issues are identified outside available internal skills and experience. 

The Sandfire maintenance and processing teams have developed robust procedures and practices to ensure they are 
operating the DeGrussa processing plant with minimal disruption and at high throughput levels. 

Reliance on contractors 

As is common in the mining industry, many of the Group’s activities are conducted using contractors. The Group’s 
operational and financial results are impacted by the performance of contractors, their efficiency, costs and associated 
risks. 
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Business risks and management (continued) 

The Group engages with reputable contractors who have the technical and financial capability to execute required 
contract work and actively manages its contractors, working within relevant agreements. Embedded performance 
structures in contracts ensure that the Group appropriately mitigates risks of non-performance by contractors, while 
maintaining shareholder value. 

Strategic Risks 

Exploration, project evaluation and project development 

Sandfire’s business, operating and financial performance and ability to achieve its strategic initiatives are impacted by 
the Group’s ability to discover new mineral prospects and to deliver development projects safely, on time and within 
capital estimates. 

Sandfire’s ability to sustain or increase its current level of production in the future is in part dependent on the success 
of its exploration, acquisition activities in replacing copper and gold reserves depleted by production, the development 
of new projects and the expansion of existing operations. 

Exploration activities are speculative in nature and often require substantial expenditure on exploration surveys, drilling 
and sampling as a basis on which to establish the presence, extent and estimated grade (metal content) of mineralised 
material. 

The risks to project development include environmental considerations, land access, regulatory approvals, capital 
overruns, construction and commissioning disputes and complexity and depth of ore bodies. Project delays could 
negatively impact the Group’s financial position and global production pipeline planning.  

The Group actively manages key deliverables and mitigates potential risks and uncertainties through strategic planning, 
scoping, feasibility studies, independent reviews, budgeting, forecasting and stakeholder engagement.  

Once mineralisation is discovered it may take several years to determine whether adequate Ore Reserves and/or 
Mineral Resources exist to support a development decision and to obtain necessary ore body knowledge to assess the 
technical and economic viability of mining projects. During that time the economic viability of the project may change 
due to fluctuations in factors that affect both revenue and costs, including metal prices, foreign exchange rates, the 
required return on capital, regulatory requirements, tax regimes and future cost of development and mining operations. 

Sandfire evaluates potential acquisition and development opportunities for mineral deposits, exploration or development 
properties and operating mines. Sandfire’s decision to acquire or develop these properties is based on a variety of 
factors, including historical operating results, estimates and assumptions regarding the extent and quality of 
mineralisation, resources and reserves, assessment of the potential for further discoveries or growth in resources and 
reserves, development and capital costs, cash and other operating costs, expected future commodity prices, projected 
economic returns, fiscal and regulatory frameworks and land acquisitions, evaluations of existing or potential liabilities 
associated with the relevant assets and how these factors may change in future. These factors are uncertain and could 
have an impact on revenue, cash and other operating results, as well as the process used to estimate Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves. 

Mineral Resources, Ore Reserve and Mine Life 

The estimation of the Group’s Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves involve subjective judgements regarding a number 
of factors (but not limited to) analysis of drilling results, associated geological and geotechnical interpretations, 
metallurgical performance evaluation, mining assessment, operating cost and business assumptions as well as a 
reliance on commodity price assumptions. As a result, the assessment of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves involve 
areas of significant estimation and judgement. The ultimate level of recovery of minerals and commercial viability of 
deposits cannot be guaranteed. 

The mine life of the Group’s operations is based on the Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimate which heavily 
dictates the financial and operational performance of the Group. As at the date of this report, the DeGrussa Operation’s 
mine life based on the most recent Ore Reserve, extends into September 2022. 

The Group’s Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources estimates are reported in accordance with the 2012 Joint Ore 
Reserve Committee (JORC) Code and estimated by Competent Persons as defined by the JORC Code. The Group 
employs Competent Persons to complete Group estimates and in certain circumstances, independent Competent 
Persons are also used to compile or verify estimates for the Group. 

External Risks 

Climate Change 

Sandfire is committed to identifying and managing its climate change risks.  

Sandfire has exposure to a range of climate change risks including those related to the transition to a lower-carbon 
economy and those related to the physical impacts of climate change.  Sandfire integrates aspects of the Taskforce on 
Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) framework to frame its climate change risk assessment. The Group 
reports on climate change risks and the potential impacts associated with these risks in the Sustainability Report in 
accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative disclosure requirements on climate risk. 
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Business risks and management (continued) 

Sandfire has identified the following transition risks: policy and legal developments; technology; reputation; shareholder 
action and increased cost of inputs and raw materials. Climate change also has the potential to impact costs of capital, 
support for project development and overall project economics. Copper and gold mining operations are energy intensive 
and we use large volumes of diesel in power generation and underground operations. Further downstream processing 
of copper concentrate through smelters and refineries also has high energy requirements. Over the years, we have 
sought to reduce energy use and carbon emissions in line with community expectations and operational targets, 
ultimately aiming to lower our impact on the environment. 

Our approach centres on integrating renewable energy, identifying opportunities to reduce energy use and using energy 
as efficiently as possible. The key initiative of our emissions reduction efforts is the DeGrussa Solar Project, 
commissioned in 2016. For FY2020, the solar facility provided on average 15% of the overall power usage for the 
DeGrussa Operations. 

Sandfire’s operating sites are also vulnerable to physical impacts of climate change into the future. As part of its risk 
management framework, the Group has sought to identify risks that relate to physical climate impacts, mainly at an 
operating site level. Extreme weather events (bushfires, flooding and cyclones etc.) have the potential to damage 
infrastructure, disrupt operations and delay delivery of products to market. Longer term shifts in climate patterns, such 
as drought, can lead to conflict over access to natural resources. 

Sandfire is working to better understand physical threats from climate change at its current and planned operating sites 
and to put in place adaptation plans to ensure that we have considered these risk factors in our design criteria for site 
operations and infrastructure. 

Fluctuations in commodity prices and foreign exchange currency 

The Group’s revenues and cash flows are largely derived from the sale of copper and gold. For the 2020 financial year, 
DeGrussa derived approximately 84% of revenue from the sale of copper contained within concentrate. The financial 
performance of Sandfire is exposed to fluctuations in the market price of these commodities. 

Fluctuations in metal prices can occur due to numerous factors beyond Sandfire’s control, including macroeconomic 
and geopolitical factors (such as financial and banking stability, global and regional political events and policies, changes 
in inflationary expectations, interest rates and global economic growth expectations), speculative positions taken by 
investors or traders and changes in supply and demand for copper and gold. Material and/or prolonged declines in the 
market price of copper could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial 
position. 

The Group is an Australian business that reports in Australian dollars. However, Sandfire’s revenue is derived from the 
sale of commodities that are priced in US dollars. Though the majority of costs, as they relate to the DeGrussa 
Operations, are primarily denominated in Australian dollars, Sandfire has exposure to other foreign currencies through 
its Tshukudu Operations, including the T3 Copper-Silver Project in Botswana and the Black Butte Copper Project in 
Montana, USA. The impact of exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates (particularly, USD:AUD) cannot be 
predicted reliably. 

The Group does not have an active financial hedging policy to mitigate currency or commodity risks, though has 
sporadically entered into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally investment grade credit 
rated financial institutions, in order to reduce exposure to fluctuations in copper price. Historically, the hedges have 
been in the form of quotational period (QP) hedging via copper swaps to either fix the price of sales at the time of 
shipment or to reduce the length of the QP, therefore reducing the short and medium term exposure to the market price 
of metal for completed or imminent shipments. There were no hedging activities undertaken during the 2020 financial 
year. 

Sandfire’s high copper grade ore and low production cost profile at the DeGrussa Operation, relative to global copper 
producers, provides resilience to reduced commodity prices and an ability to maximise margins during high commodity 
price periods. 

Environmental regulation and performance 

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of its operations on the environment, with an appropriate focus placed 
on ongoing monitoring of environmental matters and compliance with environmental regulations.  The Group holds 
environmental licenses and is subject to environmental regulation in respect of its activities in both Australia and 
overseas. The Board is responsible for monitoring environmental exposures and compliance with these regulations and 
is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance.  

The Board believes that the Group has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental 
requirements.  Compliance with the environmental regulations is managed through the Environmental Management 
System (EMS), supported by policies, management plans, standard work practices and guidelines. 
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Environmental regulation and performance (continued) 

During the financial year, Sandfire has submitted numerous environmental reports and statements to regulators detailing 
Sandfire’s environmental performance and level of compliance with relevant instruments. These include Annual 
Environmental Reports and Annual Aquifer Review Reports submitted to the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation, Annual Environmental Reports and Annual Exploration Reports submitted to the Department of Mines, 
Industry Regulation and Safety (DMIRS) and a National Pollutant Inventory Report to the Department of Water and 
Environmental Regulation. Annual Exploration Reports have also been submitted to the relevant state regulator. 
Sandfire actively manages water use to ensure efficiencies are recognised and implemented where practical. 

Sandfire complies with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 (Cth), under which it is required to 
report energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions for its Australian facilities for the year ended 30 June 2020 
and future periods. Sandfire is committed to proactively managing energy use and reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
wherever practical and is guided by internal guidelines.   

Sandfire responsibly and safely manages tailings and has an established management system, to assess, monitor and 
mitigate risks accordingly. Sandfire manages one active, downstream designed Tailings Storage Facility (TSF) at the 
DeGrussa Operations. Annual independent geotechnical audits are undertaken in accordance with DMIRS and 
ANCOLD guidelines.  The most recent review was completed in October 2019 and found that the TSF is managed in 
accordance with the approved design and complies with environmental regulatory approvals. 

There have been no significant known breaches of the Group’s license conditions or any environmental regulations to 
which it is subject during the financial year. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

In the opinion of the Directors there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred 
during the financial year, other than those described in this report under ‘Operational and financial review’. 

Significant events after the balance date 

Dividends 

Subsequent to year-end the Directors of the Company announced a fully franked final dividend on ordinary shares in 
respect of the 2020 financial year of 14 cents per share. The total amount of the dividend is $25.0 million based on the 
shares outstanding as at 30 June 2020.  The dividend has not been provided for in the 30 June 2020 Financial 
Statements. 

Likely developments and expected results 

The Group will continue to monitor developments and impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic to our operations and 
business practices. The Group plans to continue mining operations from both the DeGrussa and Monty Copper-Gold 
Mines as well as continued exploration and evaluation over the Group’s areas of interest. 

Further comments on likely developments and expected results of certain operations of the Group are included in this 
financial report under ‘Operational and financial review’. 

Share options 

Unissued shares under option  

There were no unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option during the year.  

Subsequent to year-end on the 22 July 2020, the Company issued 3,229,130 unlisted Zero Exercise Price Options 
(ZEPOs) expiring 17 July 2026 to executives and senior managers. Each ZEPO constitutes a right to receive one 
ordinary share in the capital of Sandfire, subject to meeting certain performance conditions. A further 927,703 ZEPOs 
are subject to future shareholder approval. For further information on the new remuneration and incentives structure, 
refer to the ASX announcements on the 22 July 2020. 
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Indemnification and insurance of Directors, Officers and Auditors 

Indemnification 

The Company indemnifies each of its Directors and Officers, including the Company Secretary, to the maximum extent 
permitted by the Corporations Act from liability to third parties and in defending legal and administrative proceedings 
and applications for such proceedings, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving lack of good faith. 

The Company must use its best endeavours to insure a Director or Officer against any liability, which does not arise out 
of a conduct constituting a wilful breach of duty or a contravention of the Corporations Act 2001. The Company must 
also use its best endeavour to insure a Director or Officer against liability for costs and expenses incurred in defending 
proceedings whether civil or criminal. The Directors of the Company are not aware of any such proceedings or claim 
brought against Sandfire Resources Limited as at the date of this report. 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms 
of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). 
However, the indemnity does not apply to any loss in respect of any matters which are finally determined to have 
resulted from Ernst & Young’s negligent, wrongful or willful acts or omissions. No payment has been made to indemnify 
Ernst & Young during or since the end of financial year. 

Insurance premiums 

The Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses insurance 
contracts for current and former Directors, Executive Officers and Secretaries.  The Directors have not included details 
of the premium paid in respect of the Directors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, as such 
disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract. 

Rounding 

The amounts contained in this financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) 
where noted ($000) under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. The Company is an entity to which this legislative instrument applies.  
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Auditor Independence Declaration 

The Directors received the following declaration from the auditor of Sandfire Resources Limited. 
 
 

 

 

Non-audit services 

The following non-audit services were provided to the Group by the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young. The Directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that 
auditor independence was not compromised. 

Ernst & Young received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services: 

in $ 2020 

Taxation services 84,803 

Other advisory services 5,903 

 90,706 
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Letter from the Chairman of the People and Performance Committee 

Dear Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Sandfire Resources Ltd, I am pleased to provide you with the Remuneration 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2020, for which we will seek your approval at the next annual general meeting.  

Operational performance 

FY2020 was another year of strong performance for the Group delivering on several key growth 
initiatives to support future shareholder value growth. This performance was a direct result of the 
considerable efforts of our entire Sandfire team, led by our Executives. 

The Group has delivered continued profitability from its DeGrussa Operations in Western 
Australia which continues to operate at full capacity, with mining, processing and concentrate 
sales in line with, or exceeding, market guidance. This strong operational performance led to 
record production and cost performance for FY2020. 

This success has positioned the business for future growth through the progression of important 
production pipeline assets, whilst ensuring the Company’s balance sheet remained strong. We 
completed the acquisition of MOD Resources Ltd and its Tshukudu Project in Botswana. The T3 
Copper-Silver Project feasibility study optimisation is continuing and we have seen significant 
exploration success in the Kalahari Copper Belt. We also announced a positive Record of 
Decision for permitting of our Black Butte Copper Project, located in Montana, USA. 

Our people and management of COVID-19 

The safety of our people is always our primary concern and is a key measure of performance for 
everyone at Sandfire. Pleasingly, our total recordable injury frequency rate per million hours 
worked (TRIFR) reduced to 5.8 at 30 June 2020 from 6.2 at 30 June 2019 and 7.3 from the 
beginning of the short-term incentive assessment period. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has created significant uncertainty and has tested Sandfire’s business, 
its people and culture. It is pleasing to note that the Company’s performance has remained strong 
throughout this challenging period. Our staff have dealt professionally with the direct and indirect 
risks, impacts and challenges that this unprecedented pandemic has brought and this response 
has ensured that our employees remained healthy and had limited disruption to work.  

For more detail on the Company’s performance, please refer to our Operational and financial 
review within the Directors’ Report. 

Remuneration outcomes in FY2020 

We continue to ensure that remuneration outcomes reflect the performance of the Group and 
are aligned to shareholder’s experience over short and long term timeframes. The key 
remuneration outcomes for the 2020 financial year included: 

 Executive fixed remuneration 

- The CEO fixed remuneration continues unchanged since 2014. The Executive salary of 
Mr Matthew Fitzgerald (CFO and Company Secretary) was increased by 19.8% per 
annum to reflect the increased breadth, accountability and complexity of his role driven by 
the establishment of a streamlined 3-member Executive Committee structure. 

 

 

 
 

 Executive incentives 

- Short-term incentives (STI): Recognising the Company’s strong operational and acquisition performance and his 
leadership during 2020, the Board awarded 83% of the maximum annual STI opportunity to the Managing 
Director and CEO, Mr Karl Simich. Awards of 75% and 90% were made to Mr Jason Grace (COO) and Mr 
Matthew Fitzgerald respectively. 

- Long-term incentives (LTI): Independent assessment of the three year performance period 1 July 2017 to 30 
June 2020 established that Sandfire achieved a total shareholder return (TSR) of negative 6.78% and ranking 
20th out of 31 peer companies. This performance has resulted in 0% of the 3-year 2017 LTI award vesting. 

 Board and Committee fees 

- There was no change to base or committee fees for the Chairman and NEDs during the financial year. 

Remuneration changes implemented in FY2020 

Historically, Sandfire has set STI targets and assessments on the basis of calendar years. Throughout the strategic 
review process during FY2020, detailed below, the Board determined that STI achievement should be aligned with the 
Company’s financial year. In order to satisfy the transition from calendar year to financial year assessment, we 
implemented an 18 month STI award period to 30 June 2020 aligned with the key measures of success of the Company, 
outlined in section 3 of the Remuneration Report. The maximum opportunity for STI awards during this 18-month period 
was 60% of total fixed remuneration (TFR). 
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This change was a result of market research and aligns with work undertaken by independent remuneration advisors 
during FY2020 and positions Sandfire to attract, motivate and retain talented employees as the Company works toward 
execution of set strategic objectives across its emerging global asset portfolio. 

Remuneration in FY2021 

On 1 July 2020, we announced details of a Board Succession Plan, senior management restructure and other corporate 
and strategic organisational changes designed to ensure the Company is appropriately structured and resourced for its 
next growth phase. The changes follow a detailed strategic and structural review which has confirmed Sandfire’s key 
growth objective as it makes the transition from a single-mine company into an international, multi-asset base and 
precious metals producer. 

The key elements of the strategic plan recognise the Company’s international expansion plans, while also renewing its 
efforts to deliver both organic and inorganic growth opportunities. The elements of the strategic growth plan are to: 

1. Execute delivery; 

2. Build a sustainable production profile; 

3. Accelerate discovery; 

4. Align and empower our people; and 

5. Optimise capital structure. 

In light of the evolving nature and global diversification of the business and changing market trends in recent years, the 
Board undertook a review of the remuneration framework. The new framework is aligned with the outcomes of the 
Strategic Review, and is designed to align the key milestones required for the development of a sustainable production 
profile across multiple jurisdictions with Executive remuneration. 

The enhanced framework, designed with the assistance of independent remuneration advisors, recognises that the 
development and implementation of a sustainable production profile across the Group’s global asset portfolio requires 
a longer-term horizon, driven by both short and medium term project planning and execution activities. It aligns both 
STIs and LTIs to financial year objectives, targets and measures. This reflects and better aligns with our annual market 
production and guidance cycle and further enhances alignment with project development milestones. 

STI Plan 

STI performance measures for FY2020 have been weighted towards growth, exploration, people and culture. This has 
represented a period over which the Company has revised its strategy and structure, integrated the acquisition of MOD 
Resources Ltd and required an establishment of its core people and structures as the basis to deliver additional value 
for shareholders beyond the currently known mine life at the DeGrussa Operation.  

The revised STI Plan targets for Executives are equally weighted between individual and Group-wide KPIs (50% each), 
with an increased focus on operating, financial and ESG performance. At senior manager level they are weighted more 
towards individual and asset-level KPIs. 

The STI Plan is further separated into a short-term cash incentive and a deferred short-term equity incentive. This aids 
retention and further improves alignment of participant outcomes with shareholder outcomes at the end of the deferral 
period. STI targets will be set and assessed annually with Executives having a maximum cash opportunity of 30% of 
TFR and a 12 month deferred equity opportunity of 30% of TFR. 

LTI Plan 

The revised LTI Plan seeks to align the Executive and senior management group and ensure they are focused on a 
single set of consistent and clearly defined LTI objectives. It is also designed to recognise that the achievement of these 
plans is in the context of a higher than previously experienced company risk profile as it expands internationally. 

The strategic growth plan considers the planned development of projects across multiple global jurisdictions over 
defined time horizons. As such, the plan requires an aligned approach to long-term incentives and performance 
evaluation. The Board has structured a framework to incentivise, retain and reward management for achieving this 
business step-change, the results of which will be evident at the end of a four-year period. 

With these changes comes a revised mindset, with Executives forgoing the opportunity to participate in annual equity 
awards and deferring vesting of awards in line with actual, rather than interim, delivery of the Company’s strategic 
projects. Informed by the Strategic Review process, external independent advice and its own deliberations, the Board 
has implemented a four year front-loaded LTI equity incentive opportunity to tie Executives’ awards to the strategic 
performance cycle and create a strong motivational and retention mechanism. 

While the revised LTI Plan is considered to be appropriate for the business at this time, the Board’s intention for the LTI 
Plan is to transition into an annual LTI grant to coincide with the completion of this transformational period. 

The Board remains committed to a remuneration framework that supports the Company’s strategic objectives, 
effectively aligns performance and reward outcomes and motivates Executives to pursue the long-term growth of the 
Company. 

 



2020 FINANCIAL REPORT 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

- 26 - 

We value our shareholders’ support and we continue to regularly engage with and provide ongoing updates and dialogue 
to our shareholders. 

On behalf of the Board, I invite you to review the full report and thank you for your ongoing support of Sandfire. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

Paul Hallam 
Chairman of the People and Performance Committee 

Remuneration report (audited) 

1. Remuneration report overview 

The Directors of Sandfire Resources Ltd present the Remuneration Report (the Report) for the Company and its 
controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2020.  This Report for the Group forms part of the Directors’ Report and 
has been audited in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The report details the remuneration arrangements for Sandfire’s key management personnel (KMP): 

 Non-Executive Directors (NEDs); and 

 Executive Directors and Senior Executives (collectively the Executives). 

KMP are those persons who, directly or indirectly, have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the major activities of the Company and Group. 

The table below outlines the KMP of the Group and their movements during FY2020. 

Name Position Term as KMP 

Non-Executive Directors    

Derek La Ferla Independent Non-Executive Chairman Full financial year 

Robert Scott Independent NED Full financial year 

Paul Hallam Independent NED Full financial year 

Maree Arnason Independent NED Ceased 30 June 2020 

Roric Smith Independent NED Full financial year 

Executive Director   

Karl Simich Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Full financial year 

Senior Executives 

Jason Grace Chief Operating Officer Appointed 23 September 2019 

Matthew Fitzgerald Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary Full financial year 

Richard Beazley Chief Operating Officer Ceased 20 September 2019 

Robert Klug Chief Commercial Officer Ceased 20 January 2020 

Ms Sally Langer was appointed to the position of Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 July 2020, after the reporting 
date and before the date the financial report was authorised for issue.  There were no other changes to KMP in this 
time. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

2. How remuneration is governed 

2.1 Remuneration decision making 

The following diagram presents the Group’s remuneration decision making framework during FY2020. 

 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (Committee) was in place for the full financial year. Subsequent to year 
end and in line with the Company’s Strategic Review, the Board resolved to establish a revised committee structure, 
effective 1 July 2020.  The revised board committees and structure are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The Committee consists solely of NEDs and operates under a Board-approved Charter. Non-committee members, 
including the CEO, only attend meetings of the Committee at the invitation of the Committee Chair as appropriate, but 
have no vote on matters before the Committee. 

The Committee provides assistance and recommendations to the Board to ensure that it can fulfill its responsibilities. 
This includes ensuring remuneration decisions are appropriate from the perspectives of business performance, 
Executive performance, governance, disclosure, reward levels and market conditions. Specifically, the Committee 
determined the performance targets, extent of the Executives’ achievements and the remuneration outcomes. 

In fulfilling its role, the Committee is specifically concerned with ensuring that Sandfire’s remuneration framework will: 

 Motivate the Executive team to pursue the long-term growth and success of Sandfire; 

 Represent a strong alignment between pay and performance; 

 Support equity and fairness across all levels of the organisation; and 

 Support Sandfire’s purpose and values and incentivise for behaviours within the Company’s risk profile. 

More details on the Company’s governance framework including the revised board committee structure and related 
committee charters are available on the Governance page of the Company’s website at www.sandfire.com.au. 

2.2 Remuneration advisors 

The Committee has access to adequate resources to perform its duties and responsibilities, including the authority to 
seek and consider advice from independent remuneration professionals to ensure that they have all of the relevant 
information at their disposal to determine KMP remuneration. 

The Committee has established protocols to ensure that if remuneration recommendations, as defined by the 
Corporations Act 2001, are made by independent remuneration consultants they are free from bias and undue influence 
by members of the KMP to whom the recommendations relate. The Committee directly engages the remuneration 
consultants (without management involvement), and receives all reports directly from the remuneration consultants.   

During 2020, the Committee engaged the services of BDO Reward (BDO) to review the Company’s Executive and Non-
Executive Director remuneration framework, undertake a market benchmarking review of remuneration and to assist 
with the implementation of the changes to the Executive Remuneration Framework outlined elsewhere in this report.  

 

http://www.sandfire.com.au/
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Remuneration report (continued) 

The work completed by BDO included making remuneration recommendations and the Committee is satisfied that the 
advice received from BDO was free from bias and undue influence. The remuneration recommendations were provided 
to the Committee as input into decision making only. The Committee considered the recommendations, along with other 
factors, in making its remuneration decisions. The fees paid to BDO for the remuneration recommendations were 
$68,562 (excluding GST). 

In addition to providing remuneration recommendations, BDO provided advice on other aspects of remuneration for our 
employees and various other advisory services. BDO was paid a total of $36,000 (excluding GST) for these services. 

The Committee also engaged The Reward Practice for services to determine the level of relative total shareholder return 
(TSR) performance against the selected comparator group with respect to the Company’s Long-Term Incentive (LTI) 
Plan. This work did not incorporate providing the Committee with any remuneration recommendations as defined by the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

2.3 Securities Trading Policy 

Sandfire’s Securities Trading Policy provides clear guidance on how Company securities may be dealt with and applies 
to the NEDs, Executives and all other personnel of the Company including employees and contractors. 

The Securities Trading Policy details acceptable and unacceptable periods for trading in Company securities including 
the consequences of breaching the policy. The policy also sets out a specific governance approach for how Directors 
and Executives can deal in Company securities. 

The policy can be found on the Governance page of the Company’s website at www.sandfire.com.au. 

2.4 Minimum shareholding requirements 

As at the date of this report, the Company does not have a minimum shareholding requirement for KMP, including 
Executives and NEDs. The Committee reviews the position relating to minimum shareholding annually and if considered 
appropriate will introduce a formal policy and targets. 

2.5 Remuneration report approval at FY2019 Annual General Meeting (AGM) 

The remuneration report for FY2019 received positive shareholder support at the FY2019 AGM with a vote of 99% in 
favour. 

3. Executive remuneration policy and practices 

Sandfire’s Board is committed to delivering remuneration strategy outcomes that: 

 Align the interests of Executives with shareholders and further our key business drivers; 

 Attract, motivate and retain high performing Executives; and 

 Reflect our business performance and sustainability. 

The remuneration strategy identifies and rewards high performers and recognises the contribution of each employee to 
the continued growth and success of the Group. The elements of the executive remuneration framework and its 
connection to Sandfire’s key measures of success are summarised below. 

 

 

 

http://www.sandfire.com.au/
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Remuneration report (continued) 

Remuneration changes implemented in FY2020 

Historically, Sandfire has set short-term incentive (STI) targets and assessments on the basis of calendar years. 
Throughout the strategic review process in FY2020, the Board determined that STI achievement should be aligned with 
the Company’s financial year. In order to satisfy the transition from calendar year to financial year assessment, Sandfire 
implemented an 18 month STI award period to 30 June 2020 aligned with the key measures of success and key 
performance indicators (KPIs) as detailed in the table below. 

For FY2020, these KPIs have been weighted towards growth, exploration, people and culture. This has represented a 
period over which the Company has revised its strategy and structure, integrated the acquisition of MOD Resources Ltd 
and required an establishment of its core people and structures as the basis to deliver additional value beyond the 
currently known mine life at the DeGrussa Operation. 

The maximum opportunity for STI awards during this period is 60% of total fixed remuneration (TFR) (over the 18 month 
transition period). This change was a result of market research and aligns with work undertaken by independent 
remuneration advisors during FY2020 and positions Sandfire to attract, motivate and retain talented employees as the 
Company works toward execution of set strategic objectives across its global asset portfolio. 
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3.1 2020 Executive remuneration mix 

The mix of fixed and at-risk remuneration varies depending on the role and grading of the Executive. More senior 
positions have a greater proportion of at risk remuneration.  The chart below shows the remuneration mix for exceptional 
performance when maximum at risk remuneration is earned for both the CEO and his direct reports in FY2020. 

 

3.2 Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) and market positioning of TFR 

Sandfire has adopted a market positioning strategy designed to attract and retain talented employees, and to reward 
them for delivering strong performance. The market positioning strategy also supports fair and equitable outcomes 
between employees.  

TFR acts as a base-level reward and includes cash, compulsory superannuation and any salary-sacrificed items 
(including FBT if applicable) and is reviewed annually. Sandfire has set the baseline TFR benchmark for Executives 
(other than the CEO) at the 75th percentile of the defined market.  For the CEO, the baseline TFR benchmark is the 85th 
percentile. The Board considers variations to the benchmark based on: 

 the size and complexity of the role, including role accountabilities;  

 the criticality of the role to successful execution of the business strategy;  

 skills and experience of the individual;  

 period of service; and  

 market pay levels for comparable roles. 

When determining the relevant market for each role, Sandfire considers the companies from which it sources talent, 
and to whom it could potentially lose talent. From time to time, the Committee engages independent remuneration 
advisors to provide remuneration advice, including benchmarking data, as input into setting remuneration for Executives. 

3.3 Short Term Incentive (STI) Plan: Key questions and answers on how it works 

Why does the Board 
consider an STI Plan 
is appropriate? 

The purpose of the STI Plan is to make a proportion of the total remuneration package subject to meeting 
various short-term targets linked to Sandfire’s key measures of success, thereby strengthening the link 
between pay and performance. The STI Plan is designed to focus and motivate Executives to achieve 
outcomes beyond the standard expected in the normal course of employment.  

How is it paid? STI awards are paid in cash. 

What is the 
performance period 
and how much can 
the Executive earn? 

In order to satisfy the transition from calendar year to financial year assessment, the Company 
implemented an 18 month STI award period for FY2020, 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2020. Refer to section 
3 of the Remuneration Report for more details. 

The effective maximum STI opportunity for the 18 month transition period is 60% of TFR. STI award 
potentials are pro-rated for the period of service and the actual outcome depends on the Executive’s 
performance level of achievement against each key performance indicator (KPI). 

How is performance 
measured? 

The Board sets and assesses the KPIs applicable to the CEO. The CEO sets and assesses the KPIs for 
other Senior Executives. 

KPIs cover Group and individual objectives that are financial and non-financial and reflect the Group’s key 
measures of success and the Group’s core values. 

For FY2020, the performance conditions that determined STI outcomes have been weighted towards 
growth, exploration, people and culture. This has represented a period over which the Company has 
revised its strategy and structure, integrated the acquisition of MOD Resources Ltd and required an 
establishment of its core people and structures as the basis to deliver additional value beyond the currently 
known mine life at the DeGrussa Operation. The STI performance measures were chosen as they reflect 
the key drivers of short-term performance and also provide a framework for delivering sustainable, long-
term value to Sandfire and its shareholders. 

Refer to Table 2 in section 4.3 for a list of the CEO’s KPIs, including relative weightings and commentary 
on the performance assessment and achievements. 
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What are the 
performance levels 
for KPIs? 

The KPIs have a range of pre-determined performance levels, which are detailed below.  

Threshold Represents the minimum level of performance required for an STI award to be paid. 
Performance below this level results in a nil outcome. 

Target Represents the achievement of planned performance, set at a challenging level. 

Stretch Represents exceptional performance, set at a stretch level. 

Each KPI has a weighting (% of STI) and is individually assessed against the pre-determined performance 
levels, to achieve an STI award outcome. Consistent ratings at each performance level for the set KPIs 
would result in the following STI award. 

Performance Level STI award (% of TFR) 

Threshold 30.00% 

Target 45.00% 

Stretch 60.00% 
 

How is STI 
assessed? 

The Chairman of the Board reviews the CEO’s performance against the performance targets and objectives 
set for that year. The CEO assesses the performance of the Senior Executive team as he has oversight of 
his direct reports and the day to day functions of the Company. 

The performance assessment of the CEO and other Senior Executives are reviewed and approved by the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee, reporting to the Board. 

What happens to STI 
awards when an 
executive ceases 
employment? 

If the Executive’s employment is terminated for cause, no STI will be paid. 

If the Executive resigns before the end of the performance period, the STI may be granted on a pro-rata 
basis in relation to the period of service completed, subject to the discretion of the Board and conditional 
upon the individual performance of the Executive. 

Is there an overriding 
performance 
condition or 
clawback provision? 

Yes. The Board has the discretion not to pay or reduce the amount of the STI otherwise payable, taking 
into consideration the interests of the Company and its shareholders. 

In the event of a critical or serious safety incident, the Board will assess all available information relating to 
the incident and apply discretion where appropriate. 

In the event of serious misconduct or a material misstatement in the Company’s financial statements, the 
Board may cancel the STI payment and may also clawback STI payments paid in previous financial years, 
to the extent this can be done in accordance with the law. 

Are any STI 
payments deferred? 

STI awards in FY2020, with a performance period from 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2020, did not have a 
deferral component. 

Following the strategic review undertaken in FY2020, the Board resolved that the STI Plan for FY2021 will 
defer 50% of any award into equity for a 12 month period. This aids retention and further improves 
alignment of participant outcomes with shareholder outcomes at the end of the deferral period. 

3.4 Long Term Incentive (LTI) Plan: Key questions and answers on how it works 

Why does the Board 
consider a LTI Plan 
to be appropriate? 

The Board believes that a LTI Plan can: 

 Focus and motivate Executives to achieve outcomes that are aligned to optimising shareholder value; 

 Ensure that decisions and strategic planning have regard to the Group’s long-term performance; 

 Be consistent with remuneration governance guidelines; 

 Be consistent and competitive with current practices of comparable companies; and 

 Create an immediate ownership mindset among the Executive participants, linking a substantial portion 

of the potential reward to Sandfire’s share price and returns to shareholders. 

How is the award 
delivered? 

Awards are in the form of performance rights (Rights) over ordinary shares in the Company for no 
consideration. The Rights carry neither rights to dividends or voting. 

How often are 
awards made and 
was an award made 
in FY2020? 

Awards are made annually at the discretion of the Board. 

Rights were granted to Mr Simich (CEO) following shareholder approval at the Company’s AGM on 27 
November 2019. The grant related to the FY2019 award of Rights to Mr Simich.    

Rights were also issued to Mr Grace on the commencement of his employment with the Company as Chief 
Operating Officer on 23 September 2019.  

What is the quantum 
of the award and 
what allocation 
methodology is 
used? 

The quantum of Rights granted to an Executive is determined by the Executive’s TFR; the applicable 
multiplier; and the face value of Sandfire shares, calculated as the 5 day volume weighted average price 
(VWAP) immediately prior to grant date. 

The CEO’s maximum potential award is 100% of TFR.  For other Senior Executives, it is 60% of TFR. 
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What are the 
performance 
conditions? 

The performance condition for the FY2020 award is Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of Sandfire 
measured against a comparator group constituting companies in the ASX200 Resources Index (ASX: 
XJR). 

There is also a service condition that is met if employment with Sandfire is continuous for the period 
commencing on or around the grant date until the date the Rights vest. 

What is TSR? TSR is a method for calculating the return shareholders would earn if they held a notional number of shares 
over a period of time. TSR measures the growth in a company’s share price together with the value of 
dividends during the period, assuming that all of those dividends are re-invested into new shares. 

Why were the 
performance 
conditions selected? 

The Board reviews the performance conditions annually to determine the appropriate hurdles based on 
Sandfire’s strategy and prevailing market practice. 

Service based conditions are used to encourage retention. 

Relative TSR is used because it is an objective measure of security holder value creation, is widely 
understood and accepted by key stakeholders and it rewards participants for superior performance on 
matters which they have the ability to influence. 

Setting long-term incentive targets appropriate for different stages of the mining cycle is complex and 

challenging.  With the identified transformational stage of Sandfire, the structure of future awards from 
FY2021 has been amended to create stronger alignment with long-term value creation for both the 
Company and shareholders. These changes are summarised in the Letter from the Chairman of the People 
and Performance Committee. 

Why is the ASX200 
Resources Index an 
appropriate 
comparator group? 

The Board considers the ASX200 Resources Index to be an appropriate comparator group against which 
Sandfire’s performance can be appropriately benchmarked. Benchmarking against comparable companies 
within the index minimises the impact of fluctuations in commodity price to illustrate how effective 
management have been in creating value from the Group’s assets.  Constituents of the ASX200 may be 
subject to corporate transactions (e.g. mergers and acquisitions) during the performance period and as 
such may result in a change to the number of companies evaluated at the vesting date. 

What is the 
performance period? 

The TSR for Sandfire and comparator group is measured over three financial years commencing 1 July. 

What level of relative 
TSR performance is 
required for the Rights 
to vest? 

Rights will only vest where the TSR performance of the Company relative to the selected comparator group 
measured over the performance period is at the 51st percentile or above. 

TSR of Sandfire relative to comparator group Percentage of Rights that vest 

Less than 51st percentile Nil 

51st percentile 50% of rights vest 

Greater than 51st percentile but less than 75th percentile Between 50% and 100% rights vest 

Greater than 75th percentile  100% of rights vest 

The Company employs an independent organisation to calculate the TSR ranking to ensure an objective 
assessment of the relative TSR comparison. 

When is the LTI Plan 
scheduled to be 
reviewed by the 
Board? 

Refer to the Letter from the Chairman of the People and Performance Committee for development for 
remuneration in FY2021 and beyond. 

What happens to 
Rights granted under 
the LTI Plan when an 
Executive ceases 
employment? 

If the Executive’s employment is terminated for cause, or due to resignation, all unvested Rights will lapse, 
unless the Board determines otherwise.  In all other circumstances, unless the Board decides otherwise, 
a pro-rata portion of the Executive’s Rights, calculated in accordance with the proportion of the 
performance period that has elapsed, will remain on foot, subject to the performance condition as set by 
the Board. If and when the Rights vest, shares will be allocated in accordance with the plan rules and any 
other condition of the grant. 

Can Sandfire clawback 
LTI awards? 

In the event of serious misconduct or a material misstatement in the Company’s financial statements, the 
Board may: 

 Reset the vesting conditions and/or alter the performance period applying to the award; 

 Deem all awards which have not vested to have lapsed or been forfeited,  

 Deem all or any shares following vesting of an award to have lapsed or been forfeited; and/or 

 Where shares have been allocated to an Executive and have been subsequently sold, require the 

Executive to repay the net proceeds of such sale to the extent this can be done in accordance with the 

relevant laws. 

What happens in the 
event of a change in 
control? 

In the event of a change in control, the Board will exercise its discretion, and determine the treatment of 
the unvested awards which may include pro-rata vesting. 
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4. Executive remuneration outcomes in FY2020 

4.1 Company performance 

Operational Performance 

Group operational performance has continued to be strong for FY2020 with record production and cost performance 
achieved. Financially, the Group has delivered continued profitability from its DeGrussa Operations in Western Australia 
which continues to operate at full capacity, with mining, processing and concentrate sales in line with, or exceeding, 
market guidance.  

This success has positioned the business for future growth through the progression of important production pipeline 
assets including a positive Record of Decision (ROD) for the Black Butte Copper Project in Montana, USA and the 
acquisition of MOD Resources Ltd and its Tshukudu Projects in Botswana. The T3 Copper-Silver Project feasibility 
study optimisation continues and exploration success in Botswana is seeing significant results. 

Further pleasing results have also been achieved in safety performance and assurance, health and wellbeing, and 
community programs as the Group has expanded its international reach and profile. 

COVID-19 Business response 

The global COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the global economy and our communities.  The pandemic has introduced 
a higher level of uncertainty into financial markets, as well as workforces over the short and medium term. The health 
and wellbeing of our people, contractors and stakeholders is of paramount importance to us and as the impact of COVID-
19 continues to evolve, Sandfire has and will continue to proactively implement, protocols to minimise the potential 
transmission of COVID-19 and protect our staff and operations from any implications that arise from the pandemic. 

The response from our people and the measures that we have implemented have ensured that our employees remained 
healthy and had limited disruption to work. The development timelines for the Group’s projects in Botswana and 
Montana, USA, have been impacted, however the Company and Board remain focused and the progression of these 
projects continues.   

The global COVID-19 pandemic and its various management and operational challenges have tested the Company’s 
business, its people and culture, and it is pleasing to note that the Company’s performance has remained strong  and 
resilient throughout this challenging period. The Group has dealt professionally with the direct and indirect risks, impacts 
and challenges that this unprecedented pandemic has brought, and will continue to do so in FY2021. 

The Board has recognised and understands the importance of applying discretion where appropriate in these times, 
particularly to the outcomes of incentive awards, whilst ensuring that performance is acknowledged and Sandfire is able 
to retain key employees. Upon review, taking into consideration all of the factors as detailed above, the Board 
determined that no discretion needed to be applied to any form of remuneration for FY2020 as a result of COVID-19.   

A summary of Sandfire’s business performance as measured by a range of financial and other indicators, including 
disclosure required by the Corporations Act 2001, is outlined in the table below. 

Table 1 – Company performance(a) 

Measure 30 Jun 16 30 Jun 17 30 Jun 18 30 Jun 19 30 Jun 20 

Net profit ($’000) 46,370 75,016 120,753 104,013 72,286 

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent ($’000) 47,978 77,510 123,024 106,456 74,054 

Cash and cash equivalents at year end ($’000) 66,223 126,743 243,367 247,449 291,142 

Secured bank loan balance at year end ($’000) (50,000) - - - - 

Net cash inflow from operating activities ($’000) 133,896 216,138 244,965 210,420 273,592 

Basic earnings per share (cents) 30.54 49.16 77.85 65.23 42.88 

ASX share price at the end of the year ($) 5.23 5.65 9.16 6.69 5.07 

Dividends per share (cents) 11 18 27 23 19 

(a)  Refer to the Operational and financial review for commentary on the Group’s results, including underlying performance. The 
comparative information for FY2016 to FY2018 has not been restated following the adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 9 in prior 
years and the adoption of AASB 16 in FY2020 and continues to be reported under the previous accounting policies. 

4.2 Fixed remuneration outcome 

The Company implemented a refined senior executive management structure during FY2020, which has seen the 
establishment of a streamlined Executive Committee (EXCO) consisting of Mr Karl Simich (CEO), Mr Jason Grace 
(COO) and Mr Matthew Fitzgerald (CFO and Company Secretary). All senior managers now report directly to either Mr 
Grace or Mr Fitzgerald, who have overall oversight of their respective divisions. 
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Based on the benchmarking methodology outlined in Section 3.2 of the Remuneration Report and taking into 
consideration other key factors, including the broadened roles of the executive team, an annual review of TFR was 
undertaken for each Executive. 

The TFR for the Managing Director and CEO, Mr Simich, of $1,100,000 per annum did not change during FY2020 and 
has not changed since the 2014 financial year. 

Mr Jason Grace was appointed to the role of Chief Operating Officer on 23 September 2019, and his TFR has been set 
at $600,000 per annum. 

The Board resolved to increase Mr Fitzgerald’s TFR to $565,000 per annum, effective 1 January 2020, reflecting the 
increase in scale and complexity of his role and to align his TFR to the targeted 75th percentile for comparable roles in 
peer group companies. 

4.3 STI performance and outcomes 

In accordance with the procedure set out in Section 3 of the Remuneration Report an assessment was undertaken of 
the performance of each eligible Executive KMP against their FY2020 KPIs. 

The key financial and non-financial objectives and targets for the CEO in FY2020, with commentary on achievements 
are provided in Table 2 below. The STI award percentages and payments to Executives are presented in Table 3.  

Table 2 – Linking reward and performance (CEO performance objectives and outcomes) 

KPI and weighting 
(% of STI) 

 
Objective and Target 

Achievement (18-month assessment period ending 
FY2020) 

 
Outcome 

Health and Safety 

10% 

Zero critical incidents. 

Demonstrates clear safety leadership 
and oversees implementation of 
effective safety systems to Group 
operations. 

Zero critical incidents. 

TRIFR of 5.8 achieved at 30 June 2020, below 7.3 at 
beginning of assessment period (31 December 2018). 

Effective principal hazard risk management strategies 
introduced and implemented to the Group’s Botswana 
Tshukudu Project. 

Target 

Operational 
Excellence and 
Financial Strength 

15% 

FY2020 Production 

Threshold: > 70kt Cu; 38koz Au 
Target: > 72kt Cu; 40koz Au 
Stretch: > 75kt Cu; 42koz Au 

FY2019 Production 

Threshold: > 63kt Cu; 37koz Au 
Target: > 65kt Cu; 38koz Au 
Stretch: > 67kt Cu; 40koz Au 

FY2020 Production 

Actual production was 72,238t of contained copper and 
42,263oz of contained gold. 
 

FY2019 Production 

Actual production was 69,394t of contained copper and 
44,455oz of contained gold. 

Stretch 

FY2020 C1 Cost 

Threshold: < US$0.95/lb 
Target: < US$0.925/lb 
Stretch: < US$0.90/lb 

FY2019 C1 Cost 

Threshold: < US$1.05/lb 
Target: < US$1.025/lb 
Stretch: < US$1.00/lb 

FY2020 C1 Cost 

C1 cost achieved was US$0.72/lb. 

 

FY2019 C1 Cost 

C1 cost achieved was US$0.83/lb. 

 

Exploration and 
Growth 

15% 

Evaluates and progresses organic growth 
opportunities and potential new business 
opportunities, within the framework of   
the key measures of success of Sandfire 
and actions new initiatives where 
appropriate. 

 

 

Acquisition of MOD Resources Ltd completed. 

Achieved positive Record of Decision (ROD) for the Group’s 
Black Butte Copper Project located in Montana, USA. 

Feasibility studies well progressed for the T3 Copper-Silver 
Project and Black Butte Copper Project. 

Exploration campaign launched in Kalahari Copper Belt 
targeting high-grade satellite discoveries with potential to 
expand the scale of the acquired T3 Copper-Silver Project 
with significant results to date including A4 discovery. 

Mid-point 
between 
Target and 
Stretch 

People (Culture, 
Communication 
and General 
Management) 

45% 

Develops a culture and a participative 
management style that embraces 
company values, teamwork, reward for 
performance, regular communication 
and feedback from all employees. 

Provide leadership, guidance and directs 
the exploration, development and 
operational activities of the business. 

Led the Company’s detailed strategic and structural review 
including refined senior executive management structure as 
disclosed in this Remuneration Report. 

Provided effective leadership of the management team, 
setting a refined focus for the Executive Committee (EXCO). 

Target 
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Table 2 – Linking reward and performance (CEO performance objectives and outcomes) (continued) 

KPI and weighting 
(% of STI) 

 
Objective and Target 

Achievement (18-month assessment period ending 
FY2020) 

 
Outcome 

Environmental, 
Social and 
Governance (ESG) 

15% 

Zero critical incidents. 

Serve as spokesman for the Company and 
continue to maintain effective relationships 
with stakeholders both national and 
international, which are considered integral 
to the success of Sandfire.  

Provide leadership, guidance and direct 
ESG practices intrinsic to our social license 
to operate. 

Zero critical incidents. 

Effective stakeholder engagement and continued 
community investment and partnerships to benefit the host 
communities where Sandfire operates. 

Achieved effective engagement with national and 
international stakeholders, refining existing stakeholder 
engagement practices into a common procedure to 
increase efficiency, reporting and outcomes. 

Transparent and leading sustainability reporting.  

Stretch 

Table 3 – STI award for Executive KMP in FY2020 

 
 
 

 
STI award 

$ 

Maximum potential 
value of award 

$ 

Percentage of 
maximum grant 

awarded 

Percentage of 
maximum grant 

forfeited 

Karl Simich 545,490 660,000 82.7% 17.3% 

Jason Grace(a) 171,714 228,822 75.0% 25.0% 

Matthew Fitzgerald 281,043 310,995 90.4% 9.6% 

Robert Klug(b) 110,279 141,143 78.1% 21.9% 

(a) Mr Grace commenced as Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 23 September 2019. 

(b) Mr Klug ceased to be a KMP on 20 January 2020. 

4.4 LTI performance and outcomes 

LTI Plan Rights vesting outcomes (performance period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2020) 

For the LTI Plan award made to Executives with a performance period from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2020, Sandfire’s 
share price decreased from $5.76 at 3 July 2017 to $5.07 at 30 June 2020, and together with dividends paid to 
shareholders delivered a TSR performance of negative 6.78%. The vesting of LTI Rights is based on the Company’s 
TSR performance relative to the companies within the peer group. Sandfire’s TSR performance over the past 3 years 
ranked 20th out of 31 peer companies within the ASX200 Resources Index and based on this performance, 0% of 
awarded Rights vested. 

Volatility in global markets can result in situations where threshold performance measures are not achieved and the 
Board retains the ability to apply discretion to awards at all times. No such discretion has been applied to the LTI award 
in FY2020.  The past two years have seen 0% of LTI awards vest, and with the identified transformational stage of 
Sandfire, the structure of future awards from FY2021 has been amended to create stronger alignment with long-term 
value creation for both the Company and shareholders. 

Further details of Rights held by Executives are set out in Table 9 and 10 of the Remuneration Report. 

5. Executive contracts 

Remuneration arrangements for Executives are formalised in employment agreements or service contracts (contract). 
The following table outlines the key terms of the contracts with Executives. 

Table 4 – Executive key contract provisions 

 
 
Name 

 
 
Term of contract 

Notice period 
from the 
Company(a) 

Notice period 
from the 
Executive 

 
 
Treatment of STI and LTI upon termination 

Karl 
Simich 

Rolling service contract 
with Resource 
Development Company 
Pty Ltd  

12 months   6 months STI payments may be paid on a pro-rata basis or may 
be forfeited at the discretion of the Board. 

Rights (LTI Plan): Refer to section 3. 

Jason 
Grace 

Ongoing employment 
agreement 

6 months 3 months STI payments may be paid on a pro-rata basis or may 
be forfeited at the discretion of the Company. 

Rights (LTI Plan): Refer to section 3. 

 
Matthew 
Fitzgerald 

Ongoing employment 
agreement 

6 months 6 months 

(a) The Company may make payment in lieu of notice and must pay statutory entitlements together with superannuation benefits. 
No notice period or payment in lieu of notice applies if termination was due to serious misconduct. 
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Termination payments 

The following arrangements applied to outgoing Executives in office during FY2020. 

Mr Robert Klug 

 Mr Klug ceased as the Company’s Chief Commercial Officer on 20 January 2020. As a result, he received a 
termination payment of $372,461 representing a severance payment and payment in lieu of notice. 

 LTI Plan Rights issued to Mr Klug during his employment will remain on foot, subject to the performance 
condition as set by the Board. If and when the Rights vest, shares will be allocated to Mr Klug on a pro-rata 
basis for the portion of the performance period served. 

Mr Richard Beazley 

 Mr Beazley ceased as the Company’s Chief Operating Officer on 20 September 2019.  He was engaged by 
the Company under a rolling service contract with Altair Mining Consultancy Pty Ltd and did not participate in 
the Company’s STI or LTI Plans. No amounts were payable to Mr Beazley on cessation. 

6. Executive remuneration tables 

6.1 Executive KMP cash value of remuneration realised in FY2020 

The actual remuneration earned during the year in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and accounting standards 
is outlined in section 6.2 of the Remuneration Report. The cash value of remuneration realised by Executive KMP in 
FY2020 is set out below.  This information is considered to be relevant as it provides shareholders with a view of the 
‘take home pay’ received by Executive KMP in FY2020 and may differ from the remuneration disclosure in the statutory 
remuneration table. 

Table 5 – Executive KMP cash value of remuneration realised in FY2020 

 
 
 

Salary 
and fees(a) 

($) 

Benefits and 
allowances(b) 

($) 

Short-term 
Incentive(c)  

($) 

LTI Plan 
rights(d) 

($) 

Payments on 
termination 

($) 

Total actual 
remuneration 

($) 

Current Executives      

Karl Simich 1,100,000 5,052 545,490 - - 1,650,542 

Jason Grace(e) 464,631 - 171,714 - - 636,345 

Matthew Fitzgerald 518,322 - 281,043 - - 799,365 

Former Executives      

Richard Beazley(f) 111,725 - - - - 111,725 

Robert Klug(g) 265,350 - 110,279 - 503,340 878,969 

(a)  Salary and fees comprise base salary and superannuation entitlements. It reflects the total of “Salary and fees” and 
“Superannuation” in the statutory remuneration table.  

(b) Benefits and allowances include the value of motor vehicle insurance provided to Mr Simich. It reflects the same figure that is 
disclosed in the statutory remuneration table under “Benefits and allowances”. 

(c) Short-term incentive represents the amount that the Executives earned in the financial year based on achievement of KPIs in 
accordance with the STI Plan.  It includes the entire bonus irrespective of whether it was delivered as cash or superannuation.  
It reflects the same figures that are disclosed in the statutory remuneration table under “STI payments”.   

(d) No LTI Plan Rights granted to Executives in prior years vested during the current financial year. This differs from the amount 
disclosed in the statutory remuneration table, which discloses the value of LTI grants which may or may not vest in future years.  

(e) Mr Grace commenced as Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 23 September 2019. 

(f) Mr Beazley ceased as Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 20 September 2019. Mr Beazley’s fees were paid to Altair 
Mining Consultancy Pty Ltd and he did not participate in the Company’s STI or LTI Plans. 

(g) Mr Klug ceased to be a KMP on 20 January 2020. Payments made to Mr Klug on termination comprise the cash value of 
accumulated annual leave and long service leave entitlements and termination benefits.  This differs from the amounts disclosed 
in the statutory remuneration table. 
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6.2 Statutory Executive KMP remuneration in FY2020 

Table 6 sets out Executive remuneration calculated in accordance with statutory accounting requirements. 

Table 6 – Statutory Executive KMP remuneration 

  
 

 
Short-term benefits 

Long-term 
benefits 

Post em-
ployment 

Share-based 
payments 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Finan-
cial 
year 

 
 

Salary 
and fees 

Benefits 
and 

allowa- 
nces(a) 

 
 

STI 
payment(b) 

 
Long 

service 
leave 

 
 

Super- 
annuation 

 
 

LTI Plan 
rights(c) 

Legacy 
LTI Plan 

rights/opt-
ions 

 
Term- 
ination 

payments 

 
 
 

Total 

 

Perform- 
ance 

related 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

Current Executives            

Karl Simich  2020 1,100,000 5,052 545,490 - - 532,668 - - 2,183,210 49.38 

 2019 1,100,000 32,948 247,500 - - 654,489 (411,861) - 1,623,076 N/A 

Jason Grace(d) 2020 

 

447,610 - 171,714 - 17,021 50,816 - - 687,161 32.38 

Matthew Fitzgerald 2020 497,319 - 281,043 30,779 21,003 164,318 - - 994,462 44.78 

 2019 447,078 - 103,533 6,114 18,820 153,398 34,300 - 763,243 38.16 

Former Executives            

Richard Beazley(e) 2020 

 

111,725 - - - - - - - 111,725 - 

 2019 

 

494,050 - - - - - - - 494,050 - 

Robert Klug(f) 2020 249,598 - 110,279 25,731 15,752 110,488 - 372,461 884,309 24.96 

 2019 425,151 - 108,462 14,756 39,586 148,973 34,300 - 771,228 37.83 

Total 2020 2,406,252 5,052 1,108,526 56,510 53,776 858,290 - 372,461 4,860,867 40.46 

 2019 2,466,279 32,948 459,495 20,870 58,406 956,860 (343,261) - 3,651,597 N/A 

(a) Benefits and allowances include the value of motor vehicle insurance provided to Mr Simich under the Group’s motor vehicle 
insurance policy, approved as part of Mr Simich’s remuneration. The motor vehicle insurance cover provides insurance for 
privately owned vehicles and Mr Simich has agreed to indemnify the Company for any loss, including premium adjustments and 
deductibles that may be incurred in connection with providing the insurance. 

(b) Includes amounts that were earned in the financial year based on achievement of KPIs in accordance with the STI Plan. It includes 
the entire amount, irrespective of whether it was delivered as cash or superannuation. No amounts vest in future financial years 
in respect of the STI Plan and $516,744 of the total amount recognised was paid in FY2020, with the remainder paid subsequent 
to year end. 

(c) The fair value of Rights is calculated at the date of grant using the Monte Carlo Simulation model and recognised over the period 
in which the minimum service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period).  The fair value is not related to or indicative of the benefit 
(if any) that the individual Executive may in fact receive. 

(d) Mr Grace commenced as Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 23 September 2019. 

(e) Mr Beazley ceased as Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 20 September 2019. Mr Beazley’s fees were paid to Altair 
Mining Consultancy Pty Ltd and he did not participate in the Company’s STI or LTI Plans. 

(f) Mr Klug ceased to be a KMP on 20 January 2020.  

7. Non-Executive Director remuneration 

7.1 NED remuneration policy and fee structure 

Sandfire’s NED remuneration policy is designed to attract and retain suitably skilled Directors who can discharge the 
roles and responsibilities required in terms of good governance, oversight, independence and objectivity. The Board 
seeks to attract Directors with different skills, experience, expertise and diversity. 

Under the Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules, the total annual fee pool for NEDs is determined by 
shareholders. The current maximum aggregate NED fee pool of $1,000,000 per annum was approved by shareholders 
at the 2019 AGM. Within this aggregate amount, NED fees are reviewed annually by the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee, and set by the Board. 

The Committee reviews NED fees against comparable companies within the broader general industry and taking into 
account recommendations from independent remuneration advisors. Sandfire has set the baseline TFR benchmark for 
NEDs at the 75th percentile of the defined market. 

There was no changes to NED fees during FY2020. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

The table below summarises the annual Board and committee fees payable to NEDs (inclusive of superannuation). 

Table 7 – NED fee structure 

 Role 2020   Role 2020 

Board 
fees 

Chair $220,000 Committee 
fees 

Chair $20,000 

NED $110,000 Member Nil 

The payment of Chair committee fees recognises the additional time commitment required by NEDs who serve in those 
positions. The Chairman of the Board does not receive additional fees for being a member of any Board committee. 
NEDs do not receive retirement or termination benefits and do not participate in any incentive plans. 

7.2 Total fees paid to NEDs 

Table 8 – Statutory NED remuneration 

  Short-term benefits Post-employment  

 
 

Financial 
year 

Salary and fees 
$ 

Other 
$ 

Superannuation 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Derek La Ferla 2020 

2019 

200,913 

200,913 

- 

- 

19,087 

19,087 

220,000 

220,000 

Robert Scott 

 

2020 

2019 

124,361 

124,361 

- 

- 

5,639 

5,639 

130,000 

130,000 

Paul Hallam 2020 

2019 

118,721 

118,721 

- 

- 

11,279 

11,279 

130,000 

130,000 

Maree Arnason(a) 2020 

2019 

118,721 

118,721 

- 

- 

11,279 

11,279 

130,000 

130,000 

Roric Smith 2020 

2019 

100,457 

100,457 

(b)14,000 

- 

9,543 

9,543 

124,000 

110,000 

Total 2020 

2019 

663,173 

663,173 

14,000 

- 

56,827 

56,827 

734,000 

720,000 

(a) Ms Arnason resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director on 30 June 2020. 

(b) Represents fees paid to a related entity for work beyond services as a NED. 

8. Equity instrument reporting 

8.1 Rights holdings of Executives 

The table below discloses the movements in Rights held by Executives issued under the LTI Plan (refer section 3). 

Table 9 – Executive Rights Holdings - LTI Plan 

 
Balance at 

1 Jul 19 
Granted as 

remuneration  Vested Lapsed(a) 

Balance at 
30 Jun 20 or 
date ceasing 
to be a KMP Unvested 

Value 
of unvested 

Rights(b) 

Karl Simich 529,022 (c)164,866 - (216,174) 477,714 477,714 $1,429,484 

Jason Grace(d) - 53,957 - - 53,957 53,957 $198,562 

Matthew Fitzgerald 173,164  -  - (53,194) 119,970 119,970 $476,779 

Robert Klug(e) 168,718  - - (49,046) 119,672 N/A N/A 

(a) This relates to the LTI Plan award made to Executives with a performance period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019. Sandfire achieved 
a TSR of 31.74%, placing it 21st out of 27 companies in the comparator group, resulting in 0% of the award vesting. 

(b) This is based on the fair value, at grant date, of Rights that have yet to vest. 

(c) This relates to the FY2019 award of Rights to Mr Simich. The Rights were granted on the approval of shareholders at the 
Company’s AGM held on 27 November 2019. If the vesting conditions are achieved, these Rights will vest in FY2023. Refer to 
Table 10 for details. 

(d) Rights were issued to Mr Grace on the commencement of his employment with the Company on 23 September 2019. If the 
vesting conditions are achieved, these Rights will vest in FY2023. Refer to Table 10 for details. 

(e) Mr Klug ceased to be a KMP on 20 January 2020. In accordance with the LTI Plan terms, the Rights issued to Mr Klug will remain 
on foot, subject to the performance condition as set by the Board. If and when the Rights vest, shares will be allocated to Mr 
Klug on a pro-rata basis for the portion of the performance period served.  



2020 FINANCIAL REPORT 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

- 39 - 

Remuneration report (continued) 

The Rights on foot are disclosed in the table below. Should the Rights not vest, the award will expire. 

Table 10 – Executive Rights on foot – LTI Plan 

 
 

 
Grant date 

Number of 
Rights 

Fair value 
of Right(a) 

Performance and 
service period 

Vesting 
Outcome 

Karl Simich 27 Nov 2019 (b)164,866 $2.45 1 Jul 2019 to 30 Jun 2022 To be determined 

 29 Nov 2018 116,650 $2.72 1 Jul 2018 to 30 Jun 2021 To be determined 

  29 Nov 2017 196,198 $3.61 1 Jul 2017 to 30 Jun 2020 (c)0% vested 

Jason Grace(d) 28 Jun 2019 53,957 $3.68 1 Jul 2019 to 30 Jun 2022 To be determined 

Matthew Fitzgerald 28 Jun 2019 42,414 $3.68 1 Jul 2019 to 30 Jun 2022 To be determined 

 29 Jun 2018 29,278 $5.38 1 Jul 2018 to 30 Jun 2021 To be determined 

 30 Jun 2017 48,278 $3.38 1 Jul 2017 to 30 Jun 2020 (c)0% vested 

(a) The fair value of Rights is calculated at the date of grant using the Monte Carlo Simulation model and recognised over the period 
in which the minimum service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period).  The fair value is not related to or indicative of the 
benefit (if any) that the individual Executive may in fact receive. 

(b) This relates to the FY2019 award of Rights to Mr Simich. The Rights were granted on the approval of shareholders at the 
Company’s AGM held on 27 November 2019. 

(c) For the LTI Plan award made to Executives with a performance period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2020, Sandfire achieved a TSR 
of negative 6.78%, placing it 20th out of 31 companies in the comparator group, resulting in 0% of the award vesting subsequent 
to year end. 

(d) Rights were issued to Mr Grace on the commencement of his employment with the Company on 23 September 2019. The grant 
date listed in Table 10 reflects the date used for the valuation of the Rights in accordance with AASB 2 and differs from the issue 
date. Refer to Note 27 to the Financial Report for details. The service period for the Rights issued to Mr Grace is the period from 
the commencement of his employment on 23 September 2019 until the date the Rights vest.  

8.2 Shareholdings of KMP 

The following table discloses the movements in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held, directly, indirectly 
or beneficially, by each KMP, including their related parties. 

Table 11 – Shareholdings of KMP 

 
 

Balance at  
1 Jul 19 or date 

becoming a KMP 

 
 

Purchases 

Received on 
the vesting 

of Rights 

 
Net other 

movements 

Balance at 
30 Jun 20 or date 

ceasing to be a KMP 

Non-Executive Directors     

Derek La Ferla 21,668 - - - 21,668 

Robert Scott 5,000 - - - 5,000 

Paul Hallam - 10,000 - - 10,000 

Executives      

Karl Simich 4,799,751 100,300 - - 4,900,051 

Robert Klug(a) 500 - - - 500 

(a) Mr Klug ceased to be a KMP on 20 January 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2020 FINANCIAL REPORT 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

- 40 - 

Remuneration report (continued) 

9. Other transactions and balances with KMP and their related parties 

Certain KMP or their related parties hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or signif icant 
influence of those entities. The transactions with related parties are made on terms no worse than those that prevail in 
arm’s length transactions. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or 
payables. 

Table 12 – Other transactions with KMP and their related entities 

   
Transaction 

value 
Balance 

outstanding 

 
KMP and their Director related entity 

 
Transaction 

Note 
30 Jun 2020 

$ 
30 Jun 2020 

$ 

Karl Simich 
Tongaat Pty Ltd 

Lease of corporate office parking 
premises 

(a) 9,600 - 

Karl Simich 
Resource Development Company Pty Ltd 

Lease of corporate office parking 
premises 

(a) 9,300 - 

Karl Simich 
Resource Development Company Pty Ltd 

Corporate administrative, clerical and 
accounting services 

(b) 724,588 54,989 

   743,488 54,989 

(a) The Company leases parking bays located in West Perth from Tongaat Pty Ltd and Resource Development Company Pty Ltd 
to provide parking to Sandfire staff. The parking bays are leased on independently assessed market rates. 

(b) The Company’s related party transactions with Resource Development Company Pty Ltd relate to essential services as identified 
by Sandfire and include the provision of staff for corporate administrative, clerical and accounting services. Through these 
agreements all transactions are carried out at cost, with no profit margin applicable. The director of these private companies, as 
such, does not profit from any arrangement with the Company. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 

 

 

Derek La Ferla 
Non-Executive Chairman 

Karl Simich 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

West Perth, 26 August 2020 
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Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

    

Revenue 4 656,753 592,211 

Other gains / (losses)  338 (151) 

    

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress   8,641  11,052 

Mine operations costs  (142,602) (134,694) 

Employee benefit expenses 5 (48,146) (41,699) 

Freight expenses  (45,397) (46,693) 

Royalties expenses  (32,959) (30,214) 

Exploration and evaluation expenses  (49,566) (48,653) 

Administrative expenses  (8,231) (7,305) 

Impairment expenses 20 (23,575) - 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 19 (201,435) (140,798) 

Profit before net finance expense and income tax expense  113,821 153,056 

    

Finance income 6 2,905 7,603 

Finance expense 6 (5,583) (2,020) 

Net finance (expense) / income  (2,678) 5,583 

Profit before income tax expense  111,143 158,639 

    

Income tax expense 7 (38,857) (54,626) 

Net profit for the year  72,286 104,013 

    

Attributable to:    

Equity holders of the parent  74,054  106,456 

Non-controlling interests  (1,768) (2,443) 

  72,286 104,013 

    

Earnings per share (EPS):    

Basic EPS attributable to ordinary equity holders (cents) 8 42.88 65.23 

Diluted EPS attributable to ordinary equity holders (cents) 8 42.88 65.23 

The consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

    

Net profit for the year  72,286 104,013 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax  (13,383) 234 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:    

Changes in fair value of equity investments carried at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, net of tax 

 2,842 1,180 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  10,541 1,414 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  61,745 105,427 

    

Attributable to:    

Equity holders of the parent  63,470 107,898 

Non-controlling interests  (1,725) (2,471) 

  61,745 105,427 

The consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 9  291,142  247,449 

Trade and other receivables 16  26,628  15,325 

Inventories 17  53,695  45,143 

Income tax receivable  7  16,347  - 

Other current assets   5,314  3,626 

Total current assets   393,126 311,543 

Financial investments 14 42,014 19,617 

Receivables  251 526 

Inventories 17 - 11,698 

Exploration and evaluation assets 18 170,504 25,975 

Property, plant and equipment 19 288,118 366,491 

Total non-current assets  500,887 424,307 

TOTAL ASSETS  894,013 735,850 

    

LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 10  55,011  56,550 

Lease liabilities 12  10,047  193 

Income tax payable 7  -    833 

Provisions 28  7,151  4,822 

Total current liabilities   72,209 62,398 

Trade and other payables 10  1,563  2,520 

Lease liabilities 12  2,443  355 

Provisions 28  39,447  30,796 

Deferred tax liabilities 7 28,131  35,604 

Total non-current liabilities  71,584 69,275 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  143,793 131,673 

    

NET ASSETS  750,220 604,177 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 11 363,064 242,535 

Reserves 11 (8,641) 831 

Retained profits  394,596 357,928 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  749,019 601,294 

Non-Controlling interest  1,201 2,883 

TOTAL EQUITY  750,220 604,177 

The consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 Note 

Issued 
capital 

$000 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

$000 

Retained 
profits 

$000 

Other 
reserves* 

$000 

 
Total 
$000 

 
Non-

controlling 
Interest 

$000 

 
 

Total 
equity 

$000 

At 1 July 2019  242,535 587 357,928 244 601,294 2,883 604,177 

         

Profit for the year  - - 74,054 - 74,054 (1,768) 72,286 

Other comprehensive income  - (13,426) - 2,842 (10,584) 43 (10,541) 

Total comprehensive 
income for the period 

 - (13,426) 74,054 2,842 63,470 (1,725) 61,745 

         

Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners: 

        

Issue of shares, net of 
transaction costs and tax 

 120,529 - - - 120,529 - 120,529 

Share based payments  - - - 1,175 1,175 6 1,181 

Dividends 15 - - (37,386) - (37,386) - (37,386) 

Rights issue in controlled 
entity 

 - - - (63) (63) 37 (26) 

At 30 June 2020  363,064 (12,839) 394,596 4,198 749,019 1,201 750,220 

* Other reserves consists of share-based payments reserve; fair value reserve and equity reserve. 

 

 Note 

Issued 
capital 

$000 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

$000 

Retained 
profits 

$000 

Other 
reserves* 

$000 

 
Total 
$000 

 
Non-

controlling 
Interest 

$000 

 
 

Total 
equity 

$000 

At 1 July 2018  235,415 325 292,958 218 528,916 3,135 532,051 

         

Profit for the year  - - 106,456 - 106,456 (2,443) 104,013 

Other comprehensive income  - 262 - 1,180 1,442 (28) 1,414 

Total comprehensive 
income for the period 

 
 

- 
 

262 
 

106,456 
 

1,180 
 

107,898 
 

(2,471) 
 

105,427 

         

Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as owners: 

        

Issue of shares, net of 
transaction costs and tax 

 1,000 - - - 1,000 - 1,000 

Issue of shares under 
employee awards 

 6,120 - - (877) 5,243 - 5,243 

Share based payments  - - - 1,320 1,320 4 1,324 

Dividends 15 - - (41,486) - (41,486) - (41,486) 

Rights issue in controlled 
entity 

 - - - (1,597) (1,597) 2,215 618 

At 30 June 2019  242,535 587 357,928 244 601,294 2,883 604,177 

* Other reserves consists of share-based payments reserve; fair value reserve and capital reserve. 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Cash receipts from customers   644,360  590,707 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (256,127) (246,061) 

Income tax paid  (60,691) (82,064) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (57,417) (56,985) 

Interest received   3,467  4,823 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 9  273,592  210,420 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for exploration and evaluation assets  (7,720) (825) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   157  115 

Payments for plant and equipment, including assets under construction  (8,451) (9,895) 

Payments for mine properties  (98,023) (154,033) 

Payments for investments  (24,275) (5,002) 

Proceeds from sale of investments   4,133  - 

Net cash paid to acquire MOD Resources Ltd 24 (44,603) - 

Security deposits and bonds  (9) (40) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (178,791) (169,680) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Net proceeds from share issue in controlled entity  - 789 

Proceeds from exercise of options  381  5,263 

Share issue costs   -    (110) 

Repayment of lease liabilities principal  (13,765) (346) 

Interest and financing costs   (985) (162) 

Other  588 - 

Cash dividends paid to equity holders  (37,386) (41,486) 

Net cash outflow from financing activities  (51,167) (36,052) 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   43,634  4,688 

Net foreign exchange differences  59  (606) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   247,449  243,367 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 9  291,142  247,449 

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Corporate information and basis of preparation 

1 Corporate information 

Sandfire Resources Limited (previously Sandfire Resources NL) is a for profit company incorporated in Australia whose 
shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). The consolidated financial statements of Sandfire 
Resources Limited incorporate Sandfire Resources Limited (the Parent) as well as its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
Group) as outlined in Note 23. The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 26 August 2020. 

The nature of the Group’s operations and principal activities are described in the Directors’ report. Information on the 
Group’s structure is provided in Note 23. Information on other related party relationships of the Group is provided in 
Note 26. 

2 Basis of preparation  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial report also complies with IFRS as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for trade receivables, cash-settled share-based 
payments and equity investments which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000) 
unless otherwise stated. 

Other than the changes described below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those applied by the 
Group in the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

From 1 July 2019 the Group applied AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) and early adopted AASB 2018-6 Amendments to 
AASB 3 Business Combinations – Definition of a business (AASB 2018-6) for the first time. The nature and effect of 
these changes as a result of the adoption of these new and revised standards are described below. Several other new 
and amended standards and interpretations applied for the first time, but did not have an impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and, hence, have not been disclosed. Other than the early adoption of AASB 2018-6 
the Group has not early adopted any other standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not 
yet effective other than as disclosed. 

(a) Adoption of AASB 16 Leases 

Overview 

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases, UIG 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, UIG 
115 Operating Leases - Incentives and UIG 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of 
a Lease. The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet under a single on-balance sheet model. 

The Group adopted AASB 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption, with the date of initial application of 
1 July 2019. Under this method, the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard is recognised as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application and comparatives have not been restated. 
The Group has applied the new definition of a lease to all arrangements still effective at the date of initial application. 

Upon adoption of AASB 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except for 
lease contracts that have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option (short-term leases), 
and for lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (low-value assets).  

Before the adoption of AASB 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at inception as either a finance 
lease or operating lease. For operating leases, the leased item was not capitalised and the lease payments were 
recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis. 

Upon adoption of AASB 16 for leases that were previously classified as operating leases, the Group has: 

 applied the practical expedient exemption for lease contracts that on the date of initial application have a lease 
term of 12 months or less;  

 recognised right-of-use assets based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities with the lease liabilities 
determined based on the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate of 5% 
per annum at the date of the initial application. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

Impact 

The Group has lease contracts for various items of mining equipment, motor vehicles and buildings. It does not have 
any subleases. 

The impact of adopting AASB 16 as at 1 July 2019 is set out below: 

 
 

$000 

Assets  

Property, plant and equipment - Right to use asset 25,421 

Liabilities   

Current Interest bearing liabilities (13,658) 

Non-Current Interest bearing liabilities (11,763) 

Net impact on equity Nil 

The lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments disclosure as of 30 June 
2019, as follows: 

 
 

$000 

Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 (undiscounted) 28,236 

Exclude/deduct  

   Commitments relating to unrecognised short-term or low value lease contracts (2,063) 

Include/add  

   Existing finance leases  548 

   Effect of discounting (1,300) 

Discounted recognised lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 25,421 

The presentation of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows was also impacted with the lease payments now included 
as part of financing activities rather than as part of operating activities. 

Summary of new accounting policy applied from 1 July 2019 

Set out below are the new accounting policies of the Group upon adoption of AASB 16:  

The Group as a lease assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Right-of-use asset 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the 
end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

Lease Liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, 
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. 
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, 
a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less 
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value assets 
recognition exemption to leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(b) Early adoption of AASB 2018-6 Amendments to AASB 3 Business Combinations – Definition of a 
business 

Overview 

AASB 2018-6 clarifies the definition of a business under AASB 3 Business Combinations (AASB 3), with the objective 
of assisting entities determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or as an asset 
acquisition. These amendments were applied prospectively from 1 July 2019, thus no prior period transactions will be 
impacted. 

Impact 

The Group has early adopted and applied AASB 2018-6 from 1 July 2019, which included the assessment of the 
acquisition of MOD Resources Limited during the period. Adopting AASB 2018-6 resulted in the following clarifications 
in the definition of a business under AASB 3: 

 Clarifying that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, 

an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs; 

 Removing the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or 

processes and continuing to produce outputs;  

 Narrowing the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to 

customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs; and 

 Adding an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of 

activities and assets is not a business. 

The updated definition of a business including the concentration test within AASB 2018-6 was applied to the acquisition 
of MOD Resources Limited during the period, which resulted in the transaction being classified as an asset acquisition. 

(c) Key estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statement requires management to make judgments in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and estimates that effect the reported amounts of revenue, 
expenses, assets and liabilities. Judgements and estimates which are material to the financial report are found in the 
following notes.  

Note Key estimate or judgement 

Note 4 Revenue  Price adjustment for estimate of concentrate specifications. 

 Fair value of receivables is based on the closing forward LME metal price. 

Note 7 Income tax  The recognition of deferred tax asset depends on the probability of future taxable profits. 

Note 14 Fair value 
measurement 

 Where the fair value of an instrument is not determinable with reference to active market 
prices, an alternative valuation technique is used to estimate the fair value of the instrument. 

Note 18 Exploration and 
evaluation assets 

 The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 
requires judgment to determine whether future economic benefits are likely from either future 
exploitation or sale. 

Note 20 Impairment of non-
financial assets 

 The recoverable amount of Mine Properties is dependent on the Group’s estimate of ore 
reserves that can be commercially extracted. 

Note 28 Provisions  Rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling provisions are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period. The estimated costs include judgement regarding the Group’s expectation 
of the level of rehabilitation activities that will be undertaken, technological changes, 
regulatory obligations, cost inflation and discount rates. 

(d) Basis of consolidation and business combinations 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Sandfire Resources Limited and its 
subsidiaries it controls (as outlined in Note 23).  

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Generally, there is a presumption that a 
majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption, and when the Group has less than a majority of 
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether 
it has power over an investee. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. 

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(d) Basis of consolidation and business combinations (continued) 

The income statement and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders 
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
investment retained is recognised at fair value. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of  
AASB 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the income 
statement. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 
transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 
assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 
transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

(e) Foreign currencies 

Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. Items included in the financial statements of 
each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates, the ‘functional currency’. The functional currency of Sandfire Resources Limited is Australian dollars. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency 
spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of 
exchange at the reporting date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the income statement. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate as at the date of the initial transaction.  

Group companies 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of any foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions or the average exchange rates over the reporting period. The exchange differences arising 
on translation for consolidation purposes are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of 
OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to the income statement. 

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 
spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(f) Goods and services taxes (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:  

 When the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item 
as applicable;   

 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
part of operating cash flows. 

(g) Other accounting policies 

Significant and other accounting policies that summarise the measurement basis used and are relevant in understanding 
of the financial statements are provided throughout the notes to the financial statements. 
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Segment Information 

This section contains information which will help users understand how the Group’s operating segments are organised, 
with each segment representing a strategic business.  

3 Segment information 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engage in business activities from which it may earn revenue 
and incur expenditure and about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the 
Group’s Chief Operating Decision Makers (CODM) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. 

The operating segments reported including comparatives have been updated in the current financial year in accordance 
with current segment information provided to the CODM, being the executive management team and the Board of 
Directors.  

Segment name Description  

DeGrussa Operation 
This segment consists of both the DeGrussa and Monty Copper-Gold Mines located in the Bryah 
Basin mineral province of Western Australia. The mines generate revenue from the sale and 
shipment of copper-gold concentrate to customers in Asia. 

Black Butte Project 
This segment consists of the evaluation activities for the Black Butte copper project located in 
central Montana in the United States of America, held through the Group’s 85% interest in Sandfire 
Resources America Inc. (TSX-V: SFR). 

Tshukudu Project 
This segment consists of the Group’s exploration, evaluation and development activities in 
Botswana and Namibia within the Kalahari Copper Belt. This includes the advanced T3 Copper-
Silver Project. 

Exploration and Other 
This segment includes the Group’s exploration and evaluation activity including both regional and 
Doolgunna based exploration activities and the Group’s corporate expenses that are unable to be 
directly attributed to an operating segment. 

Segment information that is evaluated by the executive management team and is prepared in conformity with the 
accounting policies adopted for preparing the financial statements of the Group. 

Segment results 

Income statement for the year ended 30 
June 2020 

DeGrussa 

Operation 

$000 

Black Butte 

 Project 

$000 

Tshukudu 

 Project 

$000 

Exploration 

and Other 

$'000 

Group 

$000 

Revenue 656,753 - - - 656,753 

Other gains / (losses) - 588 - (250) 338 

Changes in inventories 8,641 - - - 8,641 

Mine operations costs (142,602) - - - (142,602) 

Employee benefit expenses (30,054) (548) (826) (16,718) (48,146) 

Freight expenses (45,397) - - - (45,397) 

Royalties expense (32,959) - - - (32,959) 

Exploration and evaluation expenses - (13,857) (3,550) (32,159) (49,566) 

Administrative expenses - (1,835) (876) (5,520) (8,231) 

Impairment expense - - - (23,575) (23,575) 

EBITDA 414,382  (15,652) (5,252) (78,222) 315,256 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (197,865) (268) (50) (3,252) (201,435) 

Segment result (EBIT)  216,517  (15,920) (5,302) (81,474)  113,821  

Finance income     2,905 

Finance expense     (5,583) 

Profit before income tax     111,143 

Income tax expense     (38,857) 

Net profit for the year     72,286 
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3 Segment information (continued) 

Income statement for the year ended 30 
June 2019 

DeGrussa 

Operation 

$000 

Black Butte 

 Project 

$000 

Tshukudu 

 Project 

$000 

Exploration 

and Other 

$'000 

Group 

$000 

Revenue 592,211 - - - 592,211 

Other gains / (losses) 89 - - (240) (151) 

Changes in inventories 11,052 - - - 11,052 

Mine operations costs (134,694) - - - (134,694) 

Employee benefit expenses (26,303) (378) - (15,018) (41,699) 

Freight expenses (46,693) - - - (46,693) 

Royalties expense (30,214) - - - (30,214) 

Exploration and evaluation expenses - (13,387) - (35,266) (48,653) 

Administrative expenses - (929) - (6,376) (7,305) 

EBITDA 365,448 (14,694) - (56,900) 293,854 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (139,719) (141) - (938) (140,798) 

Segment result (EBIT) 225,729 (14,835) - (57,838) 153,056 

Finance income     7,603 

Finance expense     (2,020) 

Profit before income tax     158,639 

Income tax expense     (54,626) 

Net profit for the year     104,013 

Adjustments and eliminations 

Finance income, finance costs and taxes are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed on a Group 
basis. 

Revenue 

Revenue includes the gross revenue adjusted for both the realised and unrealised price adjustments during the 
quotational period as well as treatment and refining charges charged by the customer.  

Segment assets and liabilities 

The Group does not separately report assets or liabilities for its operating segments to the CODM. 

Geographical information on non-current assets 

30 June 2020 
Australia  

$000 

Botswana and 
Namibia 

$000 

United States of 
America 

$000 
Group 

$000 

Exploration and evaluation assets 5,331 150,678 14,495 170,504 

Property, plant and equipment 283,849 1,754 2,515 288,118 

Total Assets 289,180 152,432 17,010 458,622 

 

30 June 2019 
Australia  

$000 

Botswana 
and Namibia 

$000 

United States 
of America 

$000 
Group 

$000 

Exploration and evaluation assets 12,260 - 13,715 25,975 

Property, plant and equipment 364,321 - 2,170 366,491 

Total Assets 376,581 - 15,885 392,466 

Geographical information on sales and customers 

The Group’s revenue (refer to Note 4 for details) arise from sales to customers in Asia. In 2020, the majority of the 
product was sent to China for processing (93%) and the remainder to the Philippines (3.5%) and Japan (3.5%). During 
2019, majority of the product was sent to China for processing (81%), with the remainder sent to the Philippines (19%). 
The geographical information is based on the location of the customer’s operations. 

Three customers (2019: Four customers) individually accounted for more than ten percent of total revenue during the 
year. Sales revenue from these major customers ranged from 24% to 31% of total revenue, in combination contributing 
approximately 83% of total revenue (2019: 90%). 
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Results for the year 

This section focuses on the results and performance of the Group. It includes information on profitability and the resultant 
return to shareholders via earnings per share.  

4 Revenue 

  
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Revenue from contracts with customers    

Revenue from sale of concentrate  633,229 588,818 

Revenue from shipping services  12,231 11,813 

Total revenue from contracts with customers  645,460 600,631 

Realised and unrealised fair value movements on receivables subject to QP 
adjustment 

 11,293 (8,420) 

Total Revenue  656,753 592,211 

Recognition and measurement 

The Group’s principal revenue is from the sale of metal concentrate. The Group also earns revenue from the provision 
of shipping services in relation to the concentrate. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control 
of the goods or services is transferred to the customer and at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Group expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. 

The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue contracts because it typically controls the goods 
or services before transferring them to the customer. 

Concentrate sales 

Each shipment of metal concentrate under a master services agreement is determined to be a contract with a customer. 
Revenue from metal concentrate sales is recognised when control of the concentrate passes to the customer, which is 
generally determined when title passes together with significant risks and rewards of ownership, which for CIF shipments 
of concentrate represents the bill of lading date.  

The Group’s sales of metal concentrate allow for price adjustments based on the market price of contained metal at the 
end of the relevant quotational period (QP) stipulated in the contract. These are referred to as provisional pricing 
arrangements and are such that the selling price for metal concentrate is based on prevailing spot prices on a specified 
future date after shipment to the customer. Adjustments to the sales price therefore occur based on movements in 
market prices of the contained metal up until the end of the QP. The period between provisional invoicing and the end 
of the QP is generally between one to four months. 

Revenue is measured at the amount to which the Group expects to be entitled, being the estimate of the price expected 
to be received at the end of QP, being the forward price at the date the revenue is recognised net of the customer’s 
treatment and refining charges. For provisional pricing arrangements, any future changes that occur over the QP are 
embedded within the trade receivables. Given the exposure to the commodity price, these provisionally priced trade 
receivables are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent changes in the fair value of provisionally priced 
trade receivable in the line item Realised and unrealised fair value movements on receivables subject to QP adjustment, 
presented separately from revenue from contracts with customers. Changes in fair value over the term of the 
provisionally priced trade receivable are estimated by reference to updated forward market prices for the contained 
metal as well as taking into account relevant other fair value considerations including interest rate and credit risk 
adjustments. 

Shipping services 

Most of the Group’s concentrate sales are sold under CIF Incoterms, whereby the Group is responsible for providing 
freight/shipping services after the date that the Group transfers control of the metal concentrate to its customers. The 
Group, therefore, has a separate performance obligation for freight/shipping services which are provided solely to 
facilitate the sale of the concentrate it produces. 

For CIF arrangements, the transaction price (as determined above) is allocated to the metal concentrate and 
freight/shipping services using the relative stand-alone selling price method. Shipping services revenue is generally 
recognised over the period of time in which the shipping services are being provided.  
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Key estimates and judgements – Revenue 

Under the sales contracts, adjustments are made to the transaction price for variations in assay and weight between 
the time of dispatch of the metal concentrate and time of final settlement. The Group estimates the amount of 
consideration receivable using the expected value approach based on internal assays. Management consider that it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur due to a 
variation in assay and weight. 

The transaction price for metal concentrate is based on the prevailing forward metal price on the London Metals 
Exchange (LME) at the time of shipment to the customer. The customer makes a provisional payment to the Group 
against a provisional invoice for the contained copper and precious metal credits (for gold and silver) in the shipment. 
Final settlement of the sales transaction is based on the average LME metal price over a subsequent pricing period as 
specified by the terms of the sales contract. 

The period commencing on the date of shipment to the end of the pricing period is known as the Quotational Period 
(QP). The QP historically reflects the average time to elapse (generally two to four months) between the date of shipment 
and the date of processing by the smelter at final destination. This pricing methodology is standard within the industry 
and represents an embedded derivative under AASB 9 Financial Instruments. Accordingly subsequent changes in fair 
value of the receivable is recognised within Realised and unrealised price adjustments in the income statement in each 
period in until final settlement. A key input into the fair value determination of the receivable at the balance date is the 
closing forward LME metal price on the final day of the month. The revaluation of the receivable is performed up until 
the final invoice is received. For the year ended 30 June 2020 a favourable $11,293,000 (2019: unfavourable 
$8,420,000) mark-to-market adjustment to profit or loss was recognised. 

5 Expenses 

Profit before income tax includes the following expenses: 

 
 

Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Employee benefits expense    

Wages and salaries  45,948 35,624 

Defined contribution superannuation expense  3,379 3,607 

Employee share-based payments 27 1,181 1,050 

Other employee benefits expense  3,265 2,616 

  53,773 42,897 

Less employee benefits expense capitalised to mine properties  (3,945) (1,198) 

Less employee benefits expense capitalised to exploration and evaluation 
assets 

 
(1,682) - 

Total employee benefit expense  48,146 41,699 

    

Net profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  50 2 

Recognition and measurement 

Employee benefits 

Wages, salaries and defined contribution superannuation expense are recognised as and when employees render their 
services. Expenses for non-accumulating personal leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the 
rates paid or payable.  

Refer to Note 28 for the accounting policy relating to short-term and long-term employee benefits. 

Employee share-based payments 

The accounting policy, key estimates and judgements relating to employee share-based payments is set out in Note 
27.  
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6 Finance income and finance expense 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Finance income    

Interest on bank deposits calculated using the effective interest rate method  2,905 7,603 

Total finance income  2,905 7,603 
    

Finance expense    

Interest charges  (125) (183) 

Interest on lease liabilities 12 (985) - 

Net foreign exchange loss  (3,640) (287) 

Unwinding of discount on provisions  (517) (646) 

Facility fees and charges  (316) (904) 

Total finance expense  (5,583) (2,020) 

Recognition and measurement 

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.  

Provisions and other payables are discounted to their present value when the effect of the time value of money is 
significant. The impact of the unwinding of these discounts is reported in finance costs.  

7 Income tax 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Components of income tax are:    

Current income tax    

Current year income tax expense  47,280 52,168 

Over provision for prior year  (3,787) (475) 

Deferred income tax    

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (7,082) 2,622 

Under provision for prior year  2,446 311 

Income tax expense in the income statement  38,857 54,626 

    

Deferred income tax related to items credited directly to equity    

Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income  1,218 506 

Share issue costs  (1) (8) 

    

Reconciliation of income tax expense to pre-tax profit    

Profit before income tax  111,143 158,639 

Income tax expense at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2019: 30%)  33,343 47,592 

Increase (decrease) in income tax due to:    

Non-deductible expenses  1,825 1,836 

Foreign tax losses and temporary differences not recognised  5,452 5,313 

Movement in unrecognised temporary differences with respect to investments  (563) - 

Over provision for prior year  (1,341) (163) 

Tax rate differential on foreign income  825 545 

Recognition of previously unrecognised prior year capital losses  (684) (497) 

Income tax expense  38,857 54,626 
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7 Income tax (continued) 

Recognised tax assets and liabilities 

 2020 2019 

 
in $000 

Current tax 
receivable / 

(payable) 
Deferred income 

tax 
Current tax 

payable 
Deferred income 

tax 

Opening balance (833) (35,604) (31,203) (32,174) 

Charged to income (43,511) 4,637 (51,694) (2,933) 

Charged to equity - (1,217) - (497) 

Other payments 60,691 - 82,064 - 

Acquisitions/disposals - 4,053 - - 

Closing balance 16,347 (28,131) (833) (35,604) 

 

  
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:    

Deferred tax liabilities    

Investments  4,104 1,484 

Mine properties  30,069 34,062 

Plant and equipment including assets under construction  13,871 17,704 

Other  - 42 

Gross deferred tax liabilities  48,044 53,292 

Set-off of deferred tax assets  (19,913) (17,688) 

Net deferred tax liability  28,131 35,604 

    

Deferred tax assets    

Employee benefits provision  1,231 926 

Inventories  627 5,219 

Other payables and accruals  2,071 1,080 

Rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling provision  11,649 8,829 

Share issue costs reflected in equity  101 14 

Capital losses  3,537 1,484 

Other  697 136 

Gross deferred tax assets  19,913 17,688 

Set-off against deferred tax liabilities  (19,913) (17,688) 

Net deferred tax assets  - - 

Recognition and measurement 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement. 
Management periodically evaluates tax positions taken with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided for using the balance sheet full liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Except as noted below, deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.   
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7 Income tax (continued) 

Deferred tax is not recognised in the following situations: 

(a) Where temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss.  

(b) In respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised in equity is recognised in equity. 

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, it has a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend 
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be 
settled or recovered. 

The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, for which a deferred income tax liability has not 
been recognised, aggregate to $50.9 million (2019: $51.5 million). 

Key estimates and assumptions – Income tax 

Judgment is required to determine whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the 
balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary 
differences, are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is 
dependent on the timing and generation of sufficient future taxable profits in the same taxing jurisdiction to offset future 
expenditure such as rehabilitation costs. Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation. 

Determining if there will be future taxable profits depend on management's estimates of the timing and quantum of future 
cash flows, which in turn depend on estimates of future production, sales volumes, exploration discoveries, economics 
commodity prices, operating costs, rehabilitation costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management 
transactions.  

These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in 
circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
recognised on the balance sheet and the amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In 
such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require 
adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to income tax expense within the income statement. 

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in the statement of financial position of $11,649,000 (2019: $8,829,000), in 
relation to future rehabilitation obligations within Australia, the recoverability and recognition of this deferred tax asset 
is reliant on the Group having future taxable profits within Australia during the same period as the Group incurs the 
rehabilitation expenditure. 

The Group has unrecognised temporary differences and carry forward losses for which no deferred tax asset is 
recognised on the balance sheet of A$129,022,000 (2019: A$77,451,000) that have not been recognised as the 
statutory requirements for recognising those deferred tax assets have not been met. 
 

Tax Consolidation 

Sandfire Resources Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with 
effect from 1 July 2017. Sandfire Resources Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. Members of the 
tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement that provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. 
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8 Earnings per share (EPS) 

  
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent  74,054 106,456 

 

 
 

 
 

2020 
Number 

2019 
Number 

Weighted average ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution  172,716,417 159,457,066 

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by 
dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion 
of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. As at 30 June 2020 there were 977,869 performance 
rights on issue which are contingently issuable shares and not included in diluted earnings per share. 
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Capital and debt structure 

This section contains information which will help users understand the management of the Group’s capital and debt 
structure.  

9 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Cash at bank and on hand  200,550 67,041 

Short-term deposits  90,592 180,408 

  291,142 247,449 

Recognition and measurement 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of cash flows comprise cash 
at bank and on hand and short-term deposits that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value. Short-term deposits are usually between one to three months depending on the short term cash 
flow requirements of the Group.  

Cash flow information 

A reconciliation between cash and cash equivalents and net cash inflow from operating activities is as follows: 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  291,142 247,449 

    

Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flows from operations:    

Profit for the period  72,286 104,013 

Adjustments for:    

Net loss on sale of assets  (50) (2) 

Depreciation and amortisation included in the income statement  201,435 140,799 

Share based payments expense  1,181 1,051 

Unrealised QP price adjustments and foreign currency adjustments  (16,067) (3,020) 

Impairment expense  23,575 - 

Other non-cash items  3,488 1,329 

Change in assets and liabilities:    

Decrease in trade and other receivables  5,979 2,181 

Increase in inventories  (9,492) (11,705) 

Increase in income tax receivable  (17,612) - 

Increase in trade and other payables  11,579 4,273 

Decrease in interest bearing liabilities  - (1,370) 

Decrease in income tax payable  - (30,370) 

Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities  (4,205) 2,932 

Increase in provisions  1,495 309 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  273,592 210,420 
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10 Trade and other payables 

 
 

Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Current    

Trade and other payables  55,011 56,550 

Non-current    

Other payables  1,563 2,520 

Recognition and measurement 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are generally unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of 
recognition. They are initially measured at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost. The carrying value of 
these payables approximates their fair value. 

11 Issued capital and reserves 

Issued ordinary shares 

 
 

Note 
2020 

Number 
2020 
$000 

2019 
Number 

2019 
$000 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue      

On issue at 1 July   159,558,793 242,535 158,472,038 235,415 

Issue of shares, net of transaction costs and tax (a)  18,692,540 120,529 134,168 1,000 

Issue of shares under employee awards (b) - - 952,587 6,120 

On issue at 30 June  178,251,333 363,064 159,558,793 242,535 

(a) The following issues of shares were made during the year:  

i. 18,440,174 shares were issued as part of the acquisition of MOD Resources Limited as detailed in Note 24; 

ii. 30,000 shares were issued as part of the Cashman Farm-in arrangement as announced on the ASX on 12th  

November 2019; and  

iii. 222,366 shares were issued as part of acquisition of Namibian exploration properties from Kapore Metals Limited as 

announced on the ASX on 27th May 2020. The acquisition was accounted for as asset acquisition, with the total 

consideration of $2.0 million determined based on the fair value of the shares issued.  

(b) The value recorded in issued capital on conversion of shares under employee awards represents the original fair value of the 

award in the share-based payment reserve that is transferred from the share-based payment reserve to issued capital on 

exercise, as well as any consideration received on exercise. Refer to Note 27 for further details. 

Recognition and measurement 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of 
the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Group’s residual assets. Ordinary shares have no par value. 

Capital management 

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise 
shareholder’s value. In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, 
aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to any interest-bearing loans and borrowings that form part of 
its capital structure requirements. There have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest bearing 
liabilities during the current financial year or prior financial years. The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements. 

The Group manages and makes adjustments to its capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. In order 
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may for example return capital to shareholders, issue new shares 
or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, 
during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019. 
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11 Issued capital and reserves (continued) 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Share-based payments reserve 

The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payments provided to 
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 27 for details. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of entities with a functional currency differing from the Group’s 
presentation currency, are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR).  

Fair value reserve 

The fair value reserve represents the changes in fair value of investments where an irrevocable election has been made 
at initial acquisition to present fair value movements in other comprehensive income (OCI). 

Capital reserve 

The capital reserve represents gains or losses that are not recycled into the income statement, including the residual 
difference between the consideration paid to acquire a non-controlling interests share in a subsidiary and the non-
controlling share of the subsidiaries assets and liabilities. 

12 Lease liabilities 

Included in this note is the Group Lease liabilities for the right-of-use (ROU) assets recognised under AASB 16 Leases 
that were recognised for the first time as at 1 July 2019. 

 
Lease Liabilities 

$000 

Finance leases 
$000 

Total 
$000 

Reconciliation    

At 1 July - 548 548 

Transferred to lease liabilities under AASB 16 Leases - (548) (548) 

Leases recognised on transition to AASB 16 Leases 25,421 - 25,421 

Cash repayments (14,750) - (14,764) 

Interest 985 - 985 

New leases recognised during the period 877 - 877 

Foreign exchange movement (43) - (29) 

At 30 June 2020 12,490 - 12,490 

    

At 30 June 2020    

Current 10,047 - 10,047 

Non-Current 2,443 - 2,443 

Total 12,490 - 12,490 

Recognition and measurement 

Lease liabilities 

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant, machinery, vehicles and other equipment used in its 
operations. Leases of plant and machinery generally have lease terms between one and ten years, while motor vehicles 
and other equipment generally have lease terms between one and five years. 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. As at 30 June 2020 
lease liabilities have a remaining lease term of three years or less and were determined using an effective interest rate 
of 5%. The undiscounted cash-flows over the remaining lease term are $12.7 million. 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.  
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12 Lease liabilities (continued) 

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset. 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low value 
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

During the year, the Group incurred short-term lease expenses of $3.1 million and productivity-based (variable) lease 
payments of $9.5 million, these amounts were not required to be included in the measurement of the lease liability and 
were recognised in the income statement. 

Finance facilities 

The Group has a registered fixed and floating charge over assets, including the DeGrussa Operation and the broader 
Doolgunna Project with a financial institution. 

Bond Facility 

The bond facility is drawn in the form of bank guarantees to the relevant government agencies for environmental 
restoration and property managers for security deposits and does not involve the provision of funds.  As at 30 June 
2020, the Company has drawn $10,000 of the $100,000 facility limit. 

13 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

This note presents information about the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, its exposure to financial risks, 
as well as objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing these risks.  

During the current reporting period, the Group’s principal financial liabilities were lease liabilities as well as trade and 
other payables. The Group did not have any external borrowings at year end or throughout the year. The Group’s 
principal financial assets comprise equity investments, trade and other receivables and cash and short-term deposits. 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the following financial risks: 

 Market risk including interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange risk and commodity price risk; 

 Credit risk; and 

 Liquidity risk. 

Primary responsibility for the identification and control of these financial risks rests with the Group’s senior management. 
The Group’s senior management is supported by both the Audit Committee and Risk Committee under the authority of 
the Board. The committees provides assurance to the Board that the Group’s financial risk activities are governed by 
appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with 
the Group’s policies and risk objectives. 

The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed which are 
summarised below. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk for the Group comprise three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other price 
risk, such as commodity price risk. The Group’s principal financial instruments affected by market risk include financial 
liabilities, trade receivables, cash and short-term deposits. 

The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at 30 June 2020 and 2019. 

Interest rate risk management and sensitivity analysis 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of an interest bearing financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  

The Group did not have any external borrowings during the year. Cash and cash equivalents are exposed to changes 
in interest rates, the effect of a reasonably possible change in interest rates at balance date would not have a significant 
impact on the Group’s after tax profit or equity. 

Foreign currency risk and sensitivity analysis 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to 
the Group’s foreign currency cash holdings and receivables from sale of metal concentrate products denominated in 
US dollars, and the Group’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries. The Group did not use any form of derivatives to 
hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk during the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
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13 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets by its currency risk exposure as at 30 June 2020 is listed below. 

 

Denominated in US$ 
presented 
in AU$000 

Other currencies 
presented 
in AU$000 

Total  

in AU$000 

 

 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Cash and cash equivalents 20,699 14 291 - 20,990 14 

Trade and other receivables 22,424 10,031 - - 22,424 10,031 

Trade and other payables (375) (707) (215) - (590) (707) 

Total 42,748 9,338 76 - 42,824 10,045 

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity of the exposure at the balance sheet date to a reasonably possible 
change in USD/AUD exchange rate, with all other variables held constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax 
and equity is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities.   

  Effect on profit before tax 

  
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

5% increase (2019: 5% increase)  (1,068) (476) 

5% decrease (2019: 5% decrease)  1,180 527 

Commodity price risk and sensitivity analysis 

The Group is exposed to commodity price volatility on the sale of metal in concentrate products such as copper and 
gold, which are priced on, or benchmarked to, open market exchanges, specifically the London Metal Exchange (LME). 
The Group aims to realise average copper prices, which are materially consistent with the prevailing average market 
prices for the same period.  

In order to reduce the exposure to fluctuations in copper price during the Quotational Period (QP) period, the Group 
may from time to time enter into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally financial 
institutions with investment grade credit ratings, in the form of copper swaps to either fix the price of sales at the time of 
shipment or to reduce the length of the QP, therefore reducing the short and medium term exposure to the market price 
of metal for completed or imminent shipments. These hedges are generally considered to be economic hedges however 
for accounting purposes, the Group may not designate these into a hedging relationship for hedge accounting. 

No derivative hedging instruments were entered into during the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).   

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to the exposure at the balance sheet date of a reasonably possible 
change in commodity prices from the 30 June 2020 London Metals Exchange (LME) forward curve, with all other 
variables held constant.  

  Effect on profit before tax 

  
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

10% increase (2019: 10% increase)  10,791 14,275 

10% decrease (2019: 10% decrease)  (10,791) (14,275) 

The impact on the Group’s profit before tax and equity is due to changes in the fair value of the gross value of 
provisionally priced sales contracts outstanding at year end totaling $95,405,000 (2019: $66,739,000). The sensitivity 
analysis does not include the impact of the movement in commodity prices on the total sales for the year. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities with trade receivables and 
from its financing activities, including deposits with financial institutions. At the reporting date, the carrying amount of 
the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is managed by restricting dealing and holding of funds to banks which are 
assigned high credit ratings by international credit rating agencies. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 30 
June 2020 are predominately held with two financial institutions with a credit rating of AA- or higher with Standard & 
Poor’s. As short-term deposits have maturity dates of less than twelve months, the Group has assessed the credit risk 
on these financial assets using life time expected credit losses. In this regard, the Group has concluded that the 
probability of default on the term deposits is relatively low. Accordingly, no impairment allowance has been recognised 
for expected credit losses on the short-term deposits. 

 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 66 - 

13 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Credit risk in trade receivables is managed by the Group undertaking a regular risk assessment process including 
assessing the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
As there are a relatively small number of transactions, they are closely monitored to ensure payments are made on 
time. Credit risk arising from sales to customers is managed by contracts that stipulate either an upfront payment, or a 
provisional payment of at least 90 per cent of the estimated value of the sale payable promptly after vessel loading 
supported by a letter of credit arrangements with approved financial institutions. The balance outstanding is received 
within 60-120 days of the vessel arriving at the port of discharge. The Group does not have any significant receivables 
which are past due or impaired at the reporting date and it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. 
The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables. 

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain 
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that 
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. A financial asset is written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows and usually occurs when past due for more than 
one year and not subject to enforcement activity. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, 
as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group 
manages liquidity risk by conducting regular reviews of the timing of cash flows in order to ensure sufficient funds are 
available to meet these obligations. 

The Group does not have any bank debt and the Group’s liquidity risk exposure only relates to the trade and other 
payables as detailed in Note 10 and lease liabilities in Note 12.  All current trade payables will be repaid within one year 
from the reporting date.  

14 Fair value measurement 

The following table shows the fair values of financial instruments, other than cash and cash equivalents, including their 
levels in the fair value measurement hierarchy as at 30 June 2020. 

 
 

Note 
Level 1 

$’000 
Level 2 

$’000 
Level 3 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Financial assets       

Trade receivables at fair value through profit and loss (i) - 22,424 - 22,424 

Financial assets at fair value though other 
comprehensive income 

(ii) 41,349 - 665 42,014 

  41,349 22,424 665 64,438 

(i) Trade receivables relate to concentrate sale contracts that are still subject to price adjustments where the final consideration 

to be received will be determined based on prevailing London Metals Exchange (LME) metal prices at the final settlement date. 

Receivables that are still subject to price adjustments at balance date are fair valued by estimating the present value of the 

final settlement price using the LME forward metals prices at balance date. The fair value takes into account relevant other fair 

value considerations including any relevant credit risk. 

(ii) Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI include investments in equity shares of non-listed companies. These 

investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through OCI as the Group considers these investments to be strategic 

in nature. 

The fair value of the financial instruments as at 30 June 2019 are summarised in the table below. 

 
 Level 1 

$’000 
Level 2 

$’000 
Level 3 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Financial assets      

Trade receivables at fair value through profit and loss  - 10,031 - 10,031 

Financial assets at fair value though other 
comprehensive income  

 
17,965 - 1,652 19,617 

  17,965 10,031 1,652 29,648 

The carrying amount of all financial assets and all financial liabilities other than lease liabilities, recognised in the balance 
sheet approximates their fair value.  
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14 Fair value measurement (continued) 

Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to or by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

Fair value hierarchy 

All assets for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows: 

 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable. 

 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers 
have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and no transfers into or out of Level 3 
fair value measurements, during the year ended 30 June 2020 or the comparative period ended 30 June 2019. 

Key estimates and assumptions – Fair value measurement 

When the fair values of assets or liabilities are recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on quoted 
prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models. 
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree 
of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, 
credit risk and volatility.  
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15 Dividends paid and proposed 

 
 

Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Cash dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid:    

Final franked dividend for 2019: 16 cents per share (2018: 19 cents)  28,485 30,317 

Interim franked dividend for 2020: 5 cents per share (2019: 7 cents)  8,901 11,169 

  37,386 41,486 

Proposed dividends on ordinary shares:    

Final cash dividend for 2020: 14 cents per share (2019: 16 cents per share) (i) 24,955 28,485 

(i) Subsequent to year end, the Board resolved to pay a franked dividend of 14 cents per share to be paid on 29 September 2020. 
The expected financial impact of the dividend is based on the ordinary shares outstanding at 30 June 2020 and has not been 
recognised in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 and will be recognised in subsequent financial 
statements.  

Franking credit balance 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are:   

Franking account balance at the end of the financial year at 30% (2019: 30%) 193,542 148,869 

Estimated franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends as at 
the end of the financial year 

 
 

(10,695) 
 

(10,941) 

Estimated franking credits that will arise from the payment (refund) of 
income tax as at the end of the financial year 

 
 

(16,347) 
 

833 

  166,500 138,761 
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Invested capital 

This section provides information on how the Group invests and manages its capital.  

16 Trade and other receivables 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Current    

Trade receivables  22,567 10,098 

Other receivables  4,061 5,227 

  26,628 15,325 

Recognition and measurement 

Receivables are classified at initial recognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit 
or loss. The classification of receivables at initial recognition depends on the receivable’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. Except for trade receivables the Group initially 
measures a receivable at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price determined in accordance with the 
accounting policy for revenue. 
 
In order for a receivable to be classified and measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.  

Trade receivables are subject to provisional pricing and are exposed to the commodity price risk which causes such 
trade receivables to fail the SPPI test. As a result, these receivables are measured at fair value through profit or loss 
from the date of recognition of the corresponding sale, with subsequent movements in fair value being recognised in 
the comprehensive income statement.   

There are no contract assets, for which consideration is conditional that have been recognised from contracts with 
customers. 

Other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

The Group recognises an allowance for estimated credit losses (ECLs) for all receivables not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original EIR.  For 
receivables due in less than 12 months, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead, recognises a loss 
allowance based on the financial asset’s lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The expected credit loss is based on its 
historical credit loss experience in the past two years, current financial difficulties of the debtor and is adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtor and the economic environment. As at 30 June 2020 no allowance for ECLs 
has been recognised as it is expected that all receivable amounts will be received in full when due. No impairment 
expense was recognised in relation to receivables for the 2020 and 2019 financial years. 

Refer to Note 13 on credit risk of trade receivables to understand how the Group manages the credit risk and measures 
credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired. 

17 Inventories 

 

 

 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Current    

Concentrate – at cost  21,862 23,211 

Ore stockpiles – at cost  22,620 12,631 

Stores and consumables – at cost  12,119 11,306 

  56,601 47,148 

Allowance for obsolete stock – stores and consumables  (2,906) (2,005) 

  53,695 45,143 

Non-current    

Oxide copper ore stockpiles – at cost 20 - 11,698 

    

Cost of goods sold  399,973 324,307 
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17 Inventories (continued) 

Recognition and measurement 

Stores and consumables, ore and concentrate are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost are 
capitalised to ore inventory once commercial production commences which is generally once stoping activities start.  

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs include direct 
materials, direct labour and a proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure which is directly related to the 
production of inventories to the point of sale. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Stores and consumables, and ore inventories expected to be processed or sold within twelve months after the balance 
sheet date, are classified as current assets.  

Net Realisable Value Adjustment / Impairment 

The Group has decided to no longer pursue development and processing of the DeGrussa Oxide stockpile at this stage 
following further evaluation work and higher prioritisation of other Group projects. This has resulted in the conclusion 
that the carrying amount of the DeGrussa Oxide stockpile was not recoverable resulting in an $11.7 million write-off of 
the non-current inventory balance, as well as the capitalised study costs presented within Mine Properties. 

The Group’s policy for the impairment of non-financial assets is disclosed in Note 20, along with a summary of the 
impairments/write-offs recognised in the period. 

18 Exploration and evaluation assets 

 
 

Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Reconciliation    

At 1 July  25,975 24,410 

Assets acquired as part of the acquisition of MOD Resources Limited  24 159,148 - 

Other expenditure and exploration tenements acquired  8,659 769 

Impairment  20 (9,648) - 

Exchange differences  (13,630) 796 

At 30 June  170,504 25,975 

Recognition and measurement 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure includes pre-licence costs, costs associated with exploring, investigating, 
examining and evaluating an area of mineralisation, and assessing the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extracting the mineral resource from that area. Other than acquisition costs, exploration and evaluation expenditure 
incurred on licenses where the commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has not yet been established is 
generally expensed when incurred.  Once the commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource are demonstrable 
(at which point, the Group considers it probable that economic benefits will be realised), the Group capitalises any 
further evaluation costs incurred.  The recoverability of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on the 
successful development and commercial exploration, or alternatively, sale of the respective area of interest. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if:  

 insufficient data exists to determine commercial viability; or  

 other facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  

An exploration and evaluation asset shall be reclassified to mine properties when the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable and a decision has been made to develop and 
extract the resource.  Exploration and evaluation assets shall be assessed for impairment, and any impairment loss 
shall be recognised, before reclassification to mine properties. No amortisation is charged during the exploration and 
evaluation phase. 

Key estimates and assumptions – Exploration and evaluation assets 

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets requires significant judgment to 
determine whether future economic benefits are likely from either future exploitation or sale, or whether activities have 
not reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves.  

Impairment 

The Group recognised an impairment write-down of $9.6 million during the year in relation to the carrying value of 
Australian regional resources prospects, which was triggered by the limited planned level of future activities on the 
prospects along with resource estimates that not currently considered to be commercially viable. The carrying value of 
these early stage prospects have been written-down to nil. 
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19 Property, plant and equipment 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment is set out below. 

 
 
2020 

Mine 
Properties 

$000 

Plant and 
equipment 

$000 

Right of use 
asset 

$000 

Assets 
under 

construction 
$000 

 
Total 
$000 

Opening net carrying amount 230,571 131,327 - 4,593 366,491 

Adoption of AASB 16 Leases - (465) 25,421 - 24,956 

Additions 81,169 2,450 903 7,192 91,714 

Transfers - 10,801 - (10,801) - 

Impairment (2,229) - - - (2,229) 

Depreciation and amortisation (144,060) (43,879) (13,496) - (201,435) 

Movement in the rehabilitation and restoration 
asset 

4,488 4,394 - - 8,882 

Foreign exchange movements - (267) 6 - (261) 

Closing net carrying amount 169,939 104,361 12,834 984 288,118 

      

At 30 June 2020      

Gross carrying amount – at cost 868,929 394,903 26,324 984 1,291,140 

Accumulated depreciation (698,990) (290,542) (13,490) - (1,003,022) 

Net carrying amount 169,939 104,361 12,834 984 288,118 

 

 
 
2019 

Mine 
Properties 

$000 

Plant and 
equipment 

$000 

Right-of-use 
asset 
 $000 

Assets 
under 

construction 
$000 

 
Total 
$000 

Opening net carrying amount 166,581 149,473 - 14,565 330,619 

Additions 162,938 1,613 - 11,361 175,912 

Disposals - (58) - - (58) 

Transfers 1,565 19,768 - (21,333) - 

Depreciation and amortisation (100,488) (40,310) - - (140,798) 

Movement in the rehabilitation and restoration 
asset 

(25) 966 
- 

- 941 

Foreign exchange movements - (125) - - (125) 

Closing net carrying amount 230,571 131,327 - 4,593 366,491 

      

At 30 June 2019      

Gross carrying amount – at cost 785,501 377,907 - 4,593 1,168,001 

Accumulated depreciation (554,930) (246,580) - - (801,510) 

Net carrying amount 230,571 131,327 - 4,593 366,491 

Recognition and measurement 

Mine properties 

Mine property and development assets include costs incurred in accessing the ore body and costs to develop the mine 
to the production phase, once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of a mining operation has been 
established. At this stage, exploration and evaluation assets are reclassified to mine properties. 

Mine property and development assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses recognised. The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, the estimate of the rehabilitation costs, and for qualifying assets 
(where relevant), borrowing costs. Any ongoing costs associated with mining which are considered to benefit mining 
operations in future periods are capitalised. 
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19 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items and costs incurred in 
bringing the asset into use.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and maintenance 
costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the 
decommissioning, restoration and dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if 
the recognition criteria for a provision are met. Refer to Note 28 Provisions for further information about the recognised 
decommissioning provision. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the income statement when the asset is derecognised. 

Right-of-use asset 

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the 
end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

Depreciation  

The depreciation methods adopted by the Group are shown in table below: 

Category Depreciation method 

Mine properties Units of ore extracted basis over the life of mine 

Plant and equipment Straight line over the life of the mine/asset (2 - 5 years) 

Right-of-use assets Straight line over the shorter of the lease term and life of the asset 

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience, lease terms (for leased equipment) 
and turnover policies (for motor vehicles). In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and 
considered against the remaining useful life.  

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate. 

Impairment 

During the year the Group has continued to evaluate options for the processing of the DeGrussa Oxide stockpile. This 
has resulted in the conclusion that the carrying amount of the DeGrussa Oxide stockpile was not recoverable resulting 
in a $2.2 million impairment recorded against Mine Properties. 

The Group’s policy for the impairment of non-financial assets is disclosed in Note 20, along with a summary of the 
impairments recognised in the period. 
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20 Impairment of non-financial assets   

Testing for impairment 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s (CGU) fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount.   

Key estimates and assumptions – Ore Reserve and Mineral Resource 

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment including mine development is dependent on the Group’s 
estimate of the Ore Reserve that can be economically and legally extracted. The Group estimates its Ore Reserve and 
Mineral Resource based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological data on 
the size, depth and shape of the ore body, and requires complex geological judgments to interpret the data. The 
estimation of Ore Reserves is based on factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future 
capital requirements, and production costs along with geological assumptions and judgments made in estimating the 
size and grade of the ore body and removal of waste material. Changes in these estimates may impact upon the carrying 
value of mine properties, property, plant and equipment, provision for rehabilitation, recognition of deferred tax assets, 
inventory as well as depreciation and amortisation charges during the period. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The Group 
bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for each 
of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries 
or other available fair value indicators. 

Impairment losses for continuing operations are recognised in the income statement in expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset. An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGUs recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income 
statement unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 

Impairment and write-down calculations 

The Group continued to study and evaluate options for the various projects within the Group, including the DeGrussa 
Oxide stockpile and regional exploration prospects. These assessments resulted in the conclusion that the carrying 
amount for both the DeGrussa Oxide stockpile and regional exploration prospects were not recoverable therefore the 
carrying amounts for these assets was written-down. 

The resulting impairment losses and net realisable value adjustments to inventory recognised during the period are 
below. There were no other indicators of impairment to require the Group to estimate any other asset or CGU’s 
recoverable amount. 

 
 

Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Impairment losses / write-downs    

Write-down of Inventories – Oxide Stockpile 17 11,698 - 

Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation assets 18 9,648 - 

Impairment of Mine Properties – Oxide Stockpile 19 2,229 - 

Total  23,575 - 
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21 Commitments 

Group resource property commitments  

Sandfire Resources America Inc.- Black Butte Copper Leases and Water Use Agreement 

The Company’s subsidiary Sandfire Resources America Inc., through its wholly-owned subsidiary Tintina Montana Inc., 
has entered into a number mining leases and surface use and water lease agreements (collectively, the “Black Butte 
Agreements”) with the owners of the Black Butte Copper-Cobalt-Silver property in central Montana, United States. 

The Black Butte Agreements provide Tintina, with exclusive use and occupancy of any part of the property that is 
necessary for exploration and mining activities. 

Future minimum payments due under the Black Butte Agreements as at 30 June are as follows: 

 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Within one year 725 629 

After one year but not more than five years 2,950 2,515 

More than five years 11,752 9,954 

Total payments 15,427 13,098 

Contractual commitments 

The Group has entered into a number of key contracts as part of its operations. The minimum expected payments in 
relation to these contracts which were not required to be recognised as liabilities at 30 June 2020 amount to 
approximately $18,745,000 (undiscounted) (2019: $24,562,000). 
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Group structure and related party information 

This section provides information on the Group’s structure as well as related party transactions.   

22 Information relating to Sandfire Resources Limited (the Parent) 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include: 

 
2020 

$000 

2019 
$000 

Current assets 371,093 306,969 

Total assets 959,149 780,748 

Current liabilities 52,599 61,321 

Total liabilities 124,491 130,448 

   

Issued capital 363,064 242,535 

Retained earnings 362,452 275,350 

Share based payment reserve 2,161 2,153 

   

Profit or loss of the Parent entity 97,229 124,486 

Total comprehensive income of the Parent entity 100,071 125,666 

23 Information relating to subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include: 

Name Note Country of incorporation 
% equity interest 

2020 2019 

Sandfire Resources America Inc. (i) Canada 85.27 85.45 

Sandfire BC Holdings (Australia) Pty Ltd  Australia 100.00 100.00 

Sandfire BC Holdings Inc.  Canada 100.00 100.00 

Sandfire (RMP) Pty Ltd  Australia 100.00 100.00 

Sandfire (RMP) Inc.  U.S.A. 100.00 100.00 

SFR Copper & Gold Peru S.A.  Peru 100.00 100.00 

EMEA (BIH) Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100.00 0.00 

Triassic Resources d.o.o. (ii) Bosnia and Herzegovina 100.00 0.00 

Sandfire Resources Botswana Pty Ltd (iii) Australia 100.00 0.00 

Metal Capital Limited (iii) United Kingdom 100.00 0.00 

Metal Capital Exploration Limited (iii) United Kingdom 100.00 0.00 

MOD Resources (Botswana) Pty Ltd (iii) Australia 100.00 0.00 

MOD Resources (NZ) Pty Ltd (iii) Australia 100.00 0.00 

Tshukudu Metals Botswana (Pty) Ltd (iii) Botswana 100.00 0.00 

Tshukudu Exploration (Pty) Ltd (iii) Botswana 100.00 0.00 

MOD Resources Botswana (Pty) Ltd (iii) Botswana 100.00 0.00 

Sams Creek Gold Ltd (iii) New Zealand 100.00 0.00 

Trans Kalahari Copper Namibia (Pty) Ltd (iv) Namibia 100.00 0.00 

 

(i) Changes in ownership in Sandfire Resources America Inc. due to the exercise of certain employee share-based awards 

within Sandfire Resources America Inc. 

(ii) The wholly owned subsidiaries were formed and incorporated in the current financial year. 

(iii) Entities were acquired as part of the acquisition of MOD Resources Limited during the period. See Note 24 for further 

information. MOD Resources Limited was renamed to Sandfire Resources Botswana Pty Ltd during the period. 

(iv) The Group acquired Trans Kalahari Copper Namibia (Pty) Ltd (“TKC”), from Kapore Metals Limited on 27 May 2020. TKC 

holds several Namibian exploration licences within the Kalahari Copper Belt. Total consideration paid was A$2 million, 

comprising of A$1 million cash and 222,366 fully paid ordinary shares in Sandfire as well as deferred consideration to a 

maximum of A$3.5 million on reaching a “Decision to Mine” and certain Ore Reserve thresholds. Due to the early stage 

nature of the exploration licenses, no amounts have been recognised for consideration payable on a “Decision to Mine,” and 

the shares issued were fair valued based on Sandfire’s share price at transaction date. See ASX announcement dated 27 

May 2020 for further information. 
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24 Acquisition of MOD Resources Limited 

As announced on 23 October 2019, Sandfire completed the acquisition MOD Resources Limited (MOD) by way of a 
scheme of arrangement. Under the arrangement to acquire 100% of the issued and to be issued share capital of MOD 
each shareholder elected to receive either: 

 0.0664 Sandfire shares for each MOD share; or 

 Cash of A$0.45 per share up to a maximum of A$41.6 million. 

MOD and Sandfire also entered into Options Cancellation Deeds with each of the MOD option holders, under which 
MOD option holders agreed to the cancellation of their MOD options for a total cash consideration of $1.0 million to be 
paid by Sandfire on the effective date of the Scheme. Sandfire also incurred transaction costs of $3.2 million in relation 
to the acquisition of MOD. 

As a result of successful implementation of the arrangement Sandfire issued 18,440,174 shares and cash consideration 
of $41.6 million. Total consideration including equity issued, option cancellation and transaction costs was $165.1 
million, net cash paid including transaction costs was $44.6 million. 

The acquisition of MOD was accounted for as an asset acquisition and in accordance with the requirements of AASB 2 
Share-based payments resulting in the recognition at fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. The 
determination of the fair value of the acquired exploration and evaluation assets was determined based upon the range 
of fair values of the MOD exploration and evaluation projects determined by an independent expert valuation. Which 
included the T3 Copper-Silver project which was valued using a discounted cash-flow. See summary table below. 

  

Acquisition 
Allocation 

$000 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  1,175 

Other current assets  3,224 

Exploration and evaluation assets (Including the T3 Copper-Silver Project)  159,148 

Property plant and equipment  2,661 

Deferred tax asset (recognised tax losses)   4,053 

Other non-current assets  36 

Trade and other payables  (4,956) 

Employee provisions  (256) 

Total cost including transaction costs  165,085 
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25 Deed of Cross Guarantee 

Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 relief has been granted to the 
Company and all its Australian subsidiaries from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for the preparation, audit and 
lodge their financial report. 

As a condition of the Corporations Instrument, the Company and all its Australian subsidiaries (“Closed Group” (Refer 
to Note 23), entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee (“Deed”) on 17 April 2020. 

The effect of the Deed is that the Company has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of an 
Australian subsidiary within the Closed Group or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of loans or other 
liabilities subject to the guarantee. The Australian subsidiaries have also given a similar guarantee in the event that the 
Company is wound up or if it does not meet its obligations under the terms of loans or other liabilities subject to the 
guarantee.  

 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated balance sheet of the Closed Group are set 
out below. 
 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income – Closed Group entities 
2020 
$000 

  

Revenue 656,753 
Other gains / (losses) (251) 

  

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 8,641  

Mine operations costs (142,602) 

Employee benefit expenses (46,772) 

Freight expenses (45,397) 

Royalties expenses (32,959) 

Exploration and evaluation expenses (33,300) 

Administrative expenses  (6,130)  

Impairment expenses (23,575) 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (201,167) 

Profit before net finance expense and income tax expense 133,241 
  

Finance income 2,954 

Finance expense (5,358) 

Net finance income (2,404) 
Profit before income tax expense 130,837 

  

Income tax expense (38,857) 

Net profit for the year 91,980 

  

Other comprehensive income  

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:  

Changes in fair value of equity investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income, net of 
tax 

2,842 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,842 

  

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 94,822 
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25 Deed of Cross Guarantee (continued) 

Consolidated Balance Sheet – Closed Group entities 
2020 
$000 

ASSETS  

Cash and cash equivalents  290,292  

Trade and other receivables  26,301  

Inventories  53,695  

Income tax receivable   16,347  

Other current assets  1,113  

Total current assets 387,748 

Financial investments 42,014 

Receivables 54,198 

Investment in subsidiaries 260,346 

Exploration and evaluation assets 5,431 

Property, plant and equipment 283,869 

Total non-current assets 645,858 

TOTAL ASSETS 1,033,606 

  

LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables  51,883  

Lease liabilities  10,011  

Provisions  7,065  

Total current liabilities 68,959  

Trade and other payables  1,563  

Lease liabilities  2,313  

Provisions  39,447  

Deferred tax liabilities 28,131  

Total non-current liabilities 71,454 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 140,413 

  

NET ASSETS 893,193 

  

EQUITY  

Issued capital 363,064 

Reserves 38,948 

Retained profits 491,181 

TOTAL EQUITY 893,193 

 

 
 

Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings  - Closed Group entities 
2020 
$000 

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 361,815 

Profit for the year 91,980 

Dividends provided for or paid 37,386 

Retained earnings at the end of the year 491,181 
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26 Related party disclosures 

As at, and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the ultimate parent entity of the Group was Sandfire 
Resources Limited. 

Information in relation to interest in other entities is set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group 

  
2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits  3,519,830 2,958,722 

Long-term employee benefits  56,510 20,870 

Post-employment benefits  53,776 58,406 

Share-based payments  858,290 613,599 

Termination benefits  372,461 - 

Total compensation  4,860,867 3,651,597 

The amounts disclosed in the table represent the amount expensed during the reporting period related to KMP and 
Directors. 

Transactions with KMP 

Certain KMP or their related parties hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant 
influence of those entities. The transactions with related parties are made on terms no worse than those that prevail in 
arm’s length transactions. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables  or 
payables. The Company’s related party transactions with Resource Development Company Pty Ltd and Tongaat Pty 
Ltd relate to the provision of staff for corporate administrative, clerical and accounting services and the provision of 
corporate office parking. There is no profit margin applicable to these arrangements. 

  
Transactions value 
year ended 30 June 

Balance outstanding 
as at 30 June 

KMP and their Director 
related entity 

 
Transaction 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Karl Simich – Tongaat Pty Ltd 
 

Lease of corporate office 
parking premises 

9,600 9,600 - - 

Karl Simich – Resource 
Development Company Pty Ltd 

Lease of corporate office 
parking premises 

9,300 9,300 - - 

Karl Simich – Resource 
Development Company Pty Ltd 

Corporate administrative and 
accounting services 

724,588 687,954 54,989 - 

  743,488 706,854 54,989 - 
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Other notes 

27 Share-based payments 

The expense recognised during the current and previous financial year relating to share-based payments are: 

 
 

Note 
2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payments – SFR A 27(i), (ii)  1,141 1,363 

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payments – SFRA B  40 99 

Expense arising from cash-settled share-based payments – SFR C 27(iii) - (412) 

Total expense arising from share-based payment transactions  1,181 1,050 

A Long-term Incentive Plan. 
B Relates to Sandfire America employee share-based payment plans. Detailed disclosure of the plan has not been made as the 

amount is not considered material for the Group. 
C Cash settled Long-term Indexed Bonus Plan. This plan ceased in 2019. 

Recognition and measurement 

Equity-settled transactions 

The Group provides benefits to its employees and contractors (including key management personnel) in the form of 
share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for rights over shares (equity-settled 
transactions).   

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made. That cost is 
recognised, together with a corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and 
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income statement expense 
or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that 
period and is recognised in employee benefits expense. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions for which vesting 
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. These are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the 
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense had the terms 
not been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the 
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share. 

Cash-settled transactions 

The Group has also provided benefits to Executive Directors in the form of cash-settled share-based payments, whereby 
Executive Directors render services in exchange for cash, the amounts of which are determined by reference to 
movements in the price of the shares of Sandfire Resources Limited.  

The ultimate cost of these cash-settled transactions will be equal to the actual cash paid to the Director, which will be 
the fair value at settlement date. The cumulative cost recognised until settlement is recognised as a liability and the 
periodic determination of this liability is as follows: 

 At each reporting date between grant and settlement, the fair value of the award is determined; 

 During the vesting period, the liability recognised at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that 
date multiplied by the percentage of the vesting period completed;  

 From the end of the vesting period until settlement, the liability recognised is the full fair value of the liability at 
the reporting date; and 

 All changes in the liability are recognised in employee benefits expense for the period. 
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27 Share-based payments (continued) 

(i) Long-term Incentive Plan (LTI Plan) 

Listed below are the terms and conditions of issues made by the Group during the current and previous financial year. 

 
Issue date 

 
 

Number 
 

Fair value^ 

Expected 
Vesting 

date 

Performance 
period  

FY2020      

29 November 2019  164,866 $2.45 31 Aug 2022 3 years 

23 September 2019  53,956 $3.68 31 Aug 2022 2.8 years 

FY2019      

28 June 2019  157,749 $3.68 31 Aug 2022 3 years 

29 November 2018  116,650 $2.72 1 Oct 2020 3 years 

^ Represents the fair value per right at grant date. 

Under the LTI Plan, awards are made to executives and other management personnel (collectively referred to as senior 
management) who have an impact on the Group’s performance. LTI awards are delivered in the form of performance 
rights over ordinary shares in the Company for no consideration, which vest over a service period of 3 years subject to 
meeting performance measures, with no opportunity to retest. Performance rights granted under the LTI Plan are not 
entitled to dividends nor do they have voting rights.  Refer to the Group’s Remuneration Report for further details on the 
plan. 

Pricing model 

The following table lists the assumptions used in determining the fair value of performance rights granted during the 
current and previous financial year. 

 Issue date Issue date 
 29 Nov 19 23 Sep 19 28 Jun 19 29 Nov 18 

Fair value at measurement date $2.45 $3.68 $3.68 $2.72 

Underlying share price for issue $5.65 $6.69 $6.69 $6.30 

Dividend yield 4.90% 5.20% 5.20% 3.90% 

Expected volatility 35.00% 35.00% 35.00% 35.00% 

Risk-free rate 0.7% 1.0% 1.0% 2.0% 

Expected life (years) 2.6 3.0 3.0 2.6 

The fair value of performance rights granted is estimated at the date of grant using a Monte-Carlo simulation model, 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the rights were granted. The model simulates the TSR and 
compares it against the comparator group constituting companies in the S&P/ASX200 Resources Index (ASX: XJR). It 
takes into account historical and expected dividends, and the share price fluctuation covariance of the Company and 
the comparator group to predict the distribution of relative share performance. 

Movements in LTI Plan during the year 

The movement in the number of performance rights during the year is set out below. 

 
 
 

2020 
Number 

2019 
Number 

Opening balance  1,169,046 1,133,319 

Rights granted during the year  218,823 274,399 

Rights vested and exercised during the year  - (202,587) 

Rights lapsed or forfeited during the year  (410,000) (36,085) 

Closing balance  977,869 1,169,046 
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27 Share-based payments (continued) 

(ii) Long-term Incentive Option Plan (IOP Plan) 

The IOP Plan was created to align senior management awards with shareholder value. Awards under the plan were 
provided as a grant of options over ordinary shares for no consideration. With the introduction of the LTI Plan, no further 
awards have been made under the IOP Plan. The plan ceased in 2019, with all remaining options exercised or lapsed 
by 30 June 2019. 

Movements in IOP Plan 

 
2020 

Number 
2019 

Number 

Outstanding at 1 July Nil 1,410,000 

Exercised during the year Nil (750,000) 

Lapsed during the year Nil (660,000) 

Outstanding at 30 June Nil Nil 

Exercisable at 30 June Nil Nil 

(iii) Long-term Indexed Bonus Plan (LTIB Plan) 

The LTIB Plan was created to align Executive Director rewards with shareholder value and was provided as a grant of 
conditional rights. It is the current intention of the Board that awards issued under the LTIB Plan will be settled in cash 
where the participant realises value from the rights. Historically, grants that have realised value have been cash-settled. 

With the introduction of the LTI Plan, no further awards have been made under the LTIB Plan. Outstanding awards 
under the LTIB Plan include the conditional rights previously issued to the CEO, which expired on 15 December 2018. 
No amounts were payable under the plan for the year ended 30 June 2020, or for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

28 Provisions 

 
 
 

2020 
$000 

2019 
$000 

Current    

Employee benefits  7,151 4,822 

Non-current    

Employee benefits  618 1,367 

Rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling  38,829 29,429 

  39,447 30,796 

The movement in the rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling provision during the financial year is set out below. 

 
2020 
$000 

At 1 July 2019 29,429 

Arising during the year 5,565 

Unwinding of discount 517 

Inflation and discount rate adjustments 3,318 

At 30 June 2020 38,829 

Recognition and measurement 

General 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date.  The discount rate used to determine the present value of the provision reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision 
resulting from the unwinding of the discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. 
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28 Provisions (continued) 

Rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling 

The Group recognises a provision for the estimate of the future costs of restoration activities on a discounted basis at 
the time of exploration or mining disturbance. The nature of these restoration activities includes dismantling and 
removing structures, rehabilitating mines and tailings dams, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste 
sites, and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas. 

When the liability is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalised by increasing the carrying 
amount of the related assets to the extent that it was incurred by the development/construction of the asset. 
Rehabilitation and restoration obligations arising from the Group’s exploration activities are recognised immediately in 
the income statement. 

If a change to the estimated provision results in an increase in the rehabilitation liability and therefore an addition to the 
carrying value of the related asset, the Group considers whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset. If the 
revised assets, net of rehabilitation provisions, exceed the recoverable amount, that portion of the increase to the 
provision is charged directly to the income statement. 

Employee Benefits  

(i) Short-term benefits  

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and other short-term benefits expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date. They 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating 
personal leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

(ii) Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to future expected wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

29 Significant events after the reporting date 

Dividends 

Subsequent to year end the Directors of the Company announced a fully franked final dividend on ordinary shares in 
respect of the 2020 financial year of 14 cents per share. The total amount of the dividend is $25.0 million based on the 
shares outstanding as at 30 June 2020.  The dividend has not been provided for in the 30 June 2020 Financial 
Statements. 

  

  

Key estimates and assumptions – Rehabilitation provisions 

The Group assesses its rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling (rehabilitation) provision at each reporting date. 
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision as there are numerous factors that will 
affect the ultimate amount payable. These factors include estimates of the extent, timing and costs of rehabilitation 
activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases as compared to the inflation rates, and changes 
in discount rates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently 
provided. The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future 
rehabilitation costs. 

The discount rate used in the calculation of the provision is derived from an average of the 5 and 10 year government 
bond rate, which is currently the estimated time period when majority of the future rehabilitation costs will be incurred, 
and as at 30 June 2020 equalled 0.64% (2019: 1.18%). The rehabilitation costs are expected to be incurred up to 2039. 
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30 Accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

The standards and interpretations that have been issued or amended but not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2020, have been assessed and are not expected 
to have an impact on its disclosures, financial position or performance of the Group when applied. The Group intends 
to adopt these standards when they become effective.  

31 Auditor remuneration 

The auditor of Sandfire Resources Limited is Ernst & Young (EY) Australia. 

 
 
 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Amounts received or due and receivable by EY (Australia) for:   

Fees for auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the 
group and auditing the financial reports of any controlled entities 

 
 

258,580 
 

332,780 

Fees for other services    

Taxation services   84,803 15,630 

Other advisory services  5,903 12,360 

Total Fees to EY (Australia)  349,286 360,770 

    

Amounts received or due and receivable by related practices of EY for:    
Fees for auditing the financial reports of any controlled entities  178,141 105,344 

Other services in relation to the entity and any other entity in the 
consolidated group: 

   

Taxation services  - 27,458 

Other advisory services  - 19,353 

Total fees to overseas member firms of EY (Australia)  178,141 152,155 

Total auditor’s remuneration  527,427 512,925 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Sandfire Resources Limited, I state that: 

1. In the opinion of the Directors: 

a) the financial statements and notes of Sandfire Resources Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 
in Note 2; and 

c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

d) as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that members of the Closed Group 
identified in Note 25 will be able to meet any liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of 
the Deed of Cross Guarantee. 

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors by the chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 

financial year ending 30 June 2020. 

 

On behalf of the Board 

 
 

Derek La Ferla 
Non-Executive Chairman 

Karl Simich 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

West Perth, 26 August 2020 
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Ernst & Young 
11 Mounts Bay Road 
Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box M939   Perth  WA  6843 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Sandfire Resources Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Sandfire Resources Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020 
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key audit natters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the 
matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial report. 
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1. Valuation of trade receivables 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note 16 of the financial report, 
copper concentrate sales are subject to a 
quotational pricing period at 30 June 2020. 
During the quotational pricing period the 
consideration from the sale of copper 
concentrate is adjusted for changes in the 
copper prices, with final consideration 
determined based on the prevailing copper 
price at the end of the quotational pricing 
period.   

As revenue is recognised prior to the 
completion of the quotational pricing period, 
trade receivables are subject to quotational 
pricing adjustments and do not meet the ‘solely 
payments of principal and interest’ test of AASB 
9 Financial Instruments so are required to be 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

In determining the fair value of trade 
receivables, a key input is the expected copper 
price at the completion of the quotational 
pricing period, based on market forward copper 
prices.  Given changes in market forward 
copper prices can significantly impact the fair 
value of trade receivables and the unrealised 
price adjustment, being a gain or loss, is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, this was considered a 
key audit matter.  

We assessed the methodologies, inputs and 
assumptions used by the Group in determining 
the fair value of trade receivables subject to 
quotational pricing.  

We compared observable inputs into the 
Group’s valuation model, such as quoted prices, 
to externally available market data. 

We recalculated the fair value measurement of 
trade receivables still subject to quotational 
pricing adjustments as at 30 June 2020, using 
30 June 2020 market copper forward prices. 

We considered the appropriateness of the 
disclosures within the financial report. 
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2. Recognition and measurement of rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling provisions 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note 28 of the financial report, 
the Group has rehabilitation, restoration and 
dismantling provisions of $39.9 million at 30 
June 2020.  The calculation of these provisions 
was considered a key audit matter because it 
requires judgment in estimating the costs, the 
timing as to when these costs will be incurred 
and the determination of an appropriate rate to 
inflate and discount these costs to net present 
value.   

The Group reviews the underlying costs used to 
calculate the rehabilitation, restoration and 
dismantling provisions on a semi-annual basis, 
using external experts to provide support in its 
assessment as appropriate. This review 
incorporates the identification of any new 
rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling 
obligations that have arisen, an assessment of 
the underlining assumptions used, effects of 
any changes in local regulations, and the 
expected approach to restoration and 
rehabilitation. 

We evaluated the legal and/or constructive 
obligations with respect to the rehabilitation, 
restoration and dismantling provision for the 
Degrussa and Monty operations and the 
intended method of restoration and 
rehabilitation and the associated cost 
estimates.  

We considered the qualifications, competence 
and objectivity of the external experts the 
Group engaged who produced the cost 
estimates.  

We consider the timing of the Group’s proposed 
rehabilitation, restoration and dismantling 
activities for consistency with the Group’s legal 
and/or constructive obligations and useful lives 
of the associated mining operations. 

We assessed the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculations and the appropriateness of the 
inflation and discount rates. 

We considered the appropriateness of the 
disclosures within the financial report. 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

- 89 - 

3. Carrying value of inventories 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note 17 of the financial report, 
the Group held inventories as at 30 June 2020 
of $53.7 million, which related to concentrate, 
ore stockpiles, stores and consumables. These 
inventories are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. The costing of inventories 
involves allocating mining costs relating to the 
extraction of ore from the Degrussa and Monty 
mine.  

The determination of whether mining costs are 
considered development costs or production 
costs which form part of the cost of inventory 
involves judgment, which can significantly 
impact the cost of inventories and the amount 
recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income when the inventories 
are sold. As a consequence, this was considered 
a key audit matter.  

We considered whether the Group’s accounting 
policies in respect of concentrate, ore 
stockpiles, stores and consumables and oxide 
copper stockpiles are consistent with Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

We assessed the effectiveness of the relevant 
controls in respect of the allocation of the 
mining costs at the different stages of 
production to inventories. 

We selected a sample of mining related costs to 
evaluate whether, based on their nature, they 
were allocated appropriately (i.e. capitalised to 
inventories or mine properties). 

We tested inventories are being appropriately 
costed based on allocated costs and production 
volumes.  
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4. Acquisition of MOD Resources Limited 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note 24 of the financial report, 
the Group completed the acquisition of MOD 
Resources Limited on 23 October 2019 for 
combined consideration price of $161.9 million 
through the issue of 18,440,174 Sandfire 
ordinary shares and cash of $41.6 million.   

Based on the group’s accounting policies, which 
included the early adoption of the amendment 
to AASB 3, as disclosed in 2(b), the acquisition 
was accounted for as an asset acquisition.  

As a sharebased payment transaction, the 
assets and liabilities were recognised at fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. The fair 
value of the acquired exploration and evaluation 
assets were determined based on the range of 
the fair values outlined in an independent 
expert valuation report.  

The determination of the fair value asset and 
liabilities acquired involves judgment and 
estimation impacting the net assets of the 
group. Consequently, this was considered a key 
audit matter.  

We considered the appropriateness of the 
accounting for the acquisition of MOD 
Resources Limited as an asset acquisition. 

We recalculated the Group’s assessment 
calculation of the purchase consideration for 
the acquisition.  

We assessed the appropriateness of the 
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by 
the Group in determining the fair values of 
acquired assets and liabilities. 

We considered the appropriateness of the 
disclosures within the financial report. 

 

 

 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s 2020 Annual Report but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report 
and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Company or Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrpepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the audit of the remuneration report 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 26 to 40 of the directors' report for the 
year ended 30 June 2020. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Sandfire Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
F Drummond 
Partner 
Perth 

26 August 2020 
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